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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
MONGODB, INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

(unaudited)

April 30, 2023 January 31, 2023
Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 721,787  $ 455,826 
Short-term investments 1,181,641  1,380,804 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $6,512 and $6,362 as of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023,
respectively 211,575  285,192 
Deferred commissions 82,867  83,550 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 34,424  31,212 

Total current assets 2,232,294  2,236,584 
Property and equipment, net 55,212  57,841 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 40,072  41,194 
Goodwill 57,779  57,779 
Acquired intangible assets, net 9,133  11,428 
Deferred tax assets 3,041  2,564 
Other assets 182,994  181,503 
Total assets $ 2,580,525  $ 2,588,893 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 7,986  $ 8,295 
Accrued compensation and benefits 78,300  90,112 
Operating lease liabilities 8,605  8,686 
Other accrued liabilities 50,470  52,672 
Deferred revenue 387,206  428,747 

Total current liabilities 532,567  588,512 
Deferred tax liability, non-current 598  225 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 35,611  36,264 
Deferred revenue, non-current 25,547  31,524 
Convertible senior notes, net 1,140,727  1,139,880 
Other liabilities, non-current 53,046  52,980 
Total liabilities 1,788,096  1,849,385 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, par value of $0.001 per share; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized as of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023; 70,630,678
shares issued and 70,531,307 shares outstanding as of April 30, 2023; 70,005,957 shares issued and 69,906,586 shares outstanding as
of January 31, 2023 71  70 
Additional paid-in capital 2,382,121  2,276,694 

Treasury stock, 99,371 shares (repurchased at an average of $13.27 per share) as of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023 (1,319) (1,319)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 834  (905)
Accumulated deficit (1,589,278) (1,535,032)
Total stockholders’ equity 792,429  739,508 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 2,580,525  $ 2,588,893 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MONGODB, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Revenue:
Subscription $ 354,714  $ 274,581 
Services 13,566  10,866 

Total revenue 368,280  285,447 
Cost of revenue:

Subscription 78,173  64,569 
Services 19,276  13,646 

Total cost of revenue 97,449  78,215 
Gross profit 270,831  207,232 

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 182,733  150,268 
Research and development 116,817  96,372 
General and administrative 39,828  36,532 

Total operating expenses 339,378  283,172 
Loss from operations (68,547) (75,940)
Other income (expense):

Interest income 18,037  624 
Interest expense (2,393) (2,453)
Other income, net 1,144  1,621 

Loss before provision for income taxes (51,759) (76,148)
Provision for income taxes 2,487  1,146 
Net loss $ (54,246) $ (77,294)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.77) $ (1.14)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic and diluted 70,177,499  67,706,502 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MONGODB, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Net loss $ (54,246) $ (77,294)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Unrealized income (loss) on available-for-sale securities 818  (2,364)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 921  613 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,739  (1,751)
Total comprehensive loss $ (52,507) $ (79,045)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

3
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MONGODB, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)
(unaudited)

Common Stock
Additional Paid-

In Capital
Treasury

Stock

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Income
Accumulated

Deficit
Total Stockholders’

EquityShares Amount

Balances as of January 31, 2023 69,906,586  $ 70  $ 2,276,694  $ (1,319) $ (905) $ (1,535,032) $ 739,508 
Stock option exercises 213,713  —  1,472  —  —  —  1,472 
Vesting of restricted stock units 388,017  1  —  —  —  —  1 
Vesting of performance stock units 22,991  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Stock-based compensation —  —  103,955  —  —  —  103,955 
Conversion of convertible senior notes —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities —  —  —  —  818  —  818 
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  —  —  —  921  —  921 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (54,246) (54,246)

Balances as of April 30, 2023 70,531,307  $ 71  $ 2,382,121  $ (1,319) $ 834  $ (1,589,278) $ 792,429 

Common Stock Additional Paid-
In Capital

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated
Deficit

Total Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balances as of January 31, 2022 67,444,360  $ 67  $ 1,860,514  $ (1,319) $ (2,928) $ (1,189,634) $ 666,700 
Stock option exercises 235,517  —  1,656  —  —  —  1,656 
Vesting of restricted stock units 381,178  1  —  —  —  —  1 
Stock-based compensation —  —  83,566  —  —  —  83,566 
Conversion of convertible senior notes 8  —  1  —  —  —  1 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities —  —  —  —  (2,364) —  (2,364)
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  —  —  —  613  —  613 
Net loss —  —  —  —  —  (77,294) (77,294)

Balances as of April 30, 2022 68,061,063  $ 68  $ 1,945,737  $ (1,319) $ (4,679) $ (1,266,928) $ 672,879 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MONGODB, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands of U.S. dollars)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (54,246) $ (77,294)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 4,373  3,787 
Stock-based compensation 103,955  83,566 
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs 847  840 

Amortization of finance right-of-use assets 994  994 

Amortization of operating right-of-use assets 2,225  2,018 
Deferred income taxes (188) (61)
Amortization of premium and accretion of discount on short-term investments, net (13,230) 2,231 
Unrealized gain on non-marketable securities (2,226) (1,751)

Unrealized foreign exchange loss 429  581 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 73,364  28,740 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (2,909) (3,293)
Deferred commissions 2,664  (4,722)

Other long-term assets (46) (358)

Accounts payable (304) 1,023 
Accrued liabilities (12,631) (23,016)
Operating lease liabilities (2,394) (2,192)

Deferred revenue (47,266) 152 
Other liabilities, non-current 319  329 

Net cash provided by operating activities 53,730  11,574 
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment (623) (2,538)
Investment in non-marketable securities (1,306) (1,119)

Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities 280,000  75,000 

Purchases of marketable securities (66,789) (100,146)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 211,282  (28,803)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,472  1,656 
Principal repayments of finance leases (1,342) (595)

Net cash provided by financing activities 130  1,061 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 709  (1,467)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 265,851  (17,635)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 456,339  474,420 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 722,190  $ 456,785 

Supplemental cash flow disclosure
Cash paid during the period for:

Income taxes, net of refunds $ 3,146  $ 1,589 
Interest expense $ 677  $ 755 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash within the condensed consolidated balance sheets, end of period, to the amounts
shown in the statements of cash flows above:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 721,787  $ 456,275 
Restricted cash, non-current 403  510 

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 722,190  $ 456,785 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.  Organization and Description of Business

MongoDB, Inc. (“MongoDB” or the “Company”) was originally incorporated in the state of Delaware in November 2007 under the name 10Gen,
Inc. In August 2013, the Company changed its name to MongoDB, Inc. The Company is headquartered in New York City. MongoDB is the developer data
platform company. The foundation of the Company’s offering is the leading, modern general purpose database, which is built on a unique document-based
architecture. Organizations can deploy the Company’s database at scale in the cloud, on-premises, or in a hybrid environment. The Company’s robust
platform enables developers to build and modernize applications rapidly and cost-effectively across a broad range of use cases. In addition to selling
subscriptions to its software, the Company provides post-contract support, training and consulting services for its offerings. The Company’s fiscal year ends
on January 31.

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying interim condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01
of Regulation S-X. These interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. The interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the annual consolidated
financial statements and in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, including normal recurring adjustments, which are considered necessary to
fairly state the Company’s financial position and results of operations as of and for the periods presented. All intercompany transactions and accounts have
been eliminated. The results of operations for the interim periods should not be considered indicative of results for the full year or for any other future year
or interim period.

The year-end condensed balance sheet data was derived from audited financial statements but does not include all disclosures required by U.S.
GAAP. Therefore, these interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s annual consolidated financial statements and related footnotes included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31,
2023 (the “2023 Form 10-K”).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Such estimates include, but are not limited to,
revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, the incremental borrowing rate related to the Company’s lease liabilities, stock-based compensation,
legal contingencies, fair value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, useful lives of acquired intangible assets and property and equipment, fair value
of non-marketable securities and accounting for income taxes. The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends and various
other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events.

The global macroeconomic conditions, including slower economic growth, rising interest rates and inflation, continue to impact demand and supply
for a broad variety of goods and services, including demand from the Company’s customers.

Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty and therefore require the exercise of judgment.
As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require the Company to
update its estimates, assumptions and judgments or adjust the carrying value of its assets or liabilities. These estimates may change as new events occur and
additional information is obtained and are recognized in the consolidated financial statements as soon as they become known. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and any such differences may be material to the Company’s financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies as described in the Company’s 2023 Form 10-K.

6
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.  Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets that have been measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023 and indicate the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs utilized to determine such fair value (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurement as of April 30, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market funds $ 487,055  $ —  $ —  $ 487,055 

Short-term investments:
U.S. government treasury securities 1,181,641  —  —  1,181,641 

Total financial assets $ 1,668,696  $ —  $ —  $ 1,668,696 

Fair Value Measurement as of January 31, 2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 268,985  $ —  $ —  $ 268,985 
Short-term investments:

U.S. government treasury securities 1,380,804  —  —  1,380,804 
Total financial assets $ 1,649,789  $ —  $ —  $ 1,649,789 

The Company utilized the market approach and Level 1 valuation inputs to value its money market mutual funds and U.S. government treasury
securities because published net asset values were readily available. The contractual maturity of all marketable securities was less than one year as of
April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023. As of April 30, 2023, unrealized losses on the Company’s U.S. government treasury securities were approximately
$1.6 million. The fluctuations in market interest rates impact the unrealized losses on these securities. The Company does not intend to sell these securities
and, as a result, does not expect to realize these losses in its financial statements. The Company concluded that an allowance for credit losses was
unnecessary for short-term investments as of April 30, 2023. Gross realized gains and losses were not material for each of the three-month periods ended
April 30, 2023 and 2022.

Convertible Senior Notes

The Company measures the fair value of its outstanding convertible senior notes on a quarterly basis for disclosure purposes. The Company
considers the fair value of its convertible senior notes at April 30, 2023 to be a Level 2 measurement due to limited trading activity of the convertible senior
notes. Refer to Note 5, Convertible Senior Notes, for further details.

7
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Non-marketable Securities

As of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023, the total amount of non-marketable equity and debt securities included in other assets on the Company’s
condensed consolidated balance sheets were $13.3 million and $9.8 million, respectively. During the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022, the
Company invested an additional $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, of its cash in non-marketable equity securities. In addition, the Company
recognized an unrealized gain on certain of these non-marketable securities of $2.2 million and $1.8 million during the three months ended April 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively. Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II,
Item 8 of the Company’s 2023 Form 10-K for further information. The Company considers these assets as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The
estimation of fair value for these investments is inherently complex due to the lack of readily available market data and inherent lack of liquidity and
requires the Company’s judgment and the use of significant unobservable inputs in an inactive market. In addition, the determination of whether an orderly
transaction is for the identical or a similar investment requires significant management judgment, including understanding the differences in the rights and
obligations of the investments, the extent to which those differences would affect the fair values of those investments and the stage of operational
development of the entities.

4.  Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets, Net

There were no material changes to goodwill carrying amounts during the three months ended April 30, 2023. The gross carrying amounts and
accumulated amortization of the Company’s intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):

April 30, 2023

Gross Carrying Value Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value

Weighted-Average Remaining
Useful Life
(in years)

Developed technology $ 38,100  $ (30,657) $ 7,443  1.5
Customer relationships 15,200  (13,510) 1,690  0.6

Total $ 53,300  $ (44,167) $ 9,133 

January 31, 2023

Gross Carrying Value Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value

Weighted-Average Remaining
Useful Life
(in years)

Developed technology $ 38,100  $ (29,122) $ 8,978  1.7
Customer relationships 15,200  (12,750) 2,450  0.8

Total $ 53,300  $ (41,872) $ 11,428 

Acquired intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis. Amortization expense of intangible assets was $2.3 million for both the three
months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022. Amortization expense for developed technology was included as research and development expense in the
Company’s interim unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations. Amortization expense for customer relationships was included as sales and
marketing expense in the Company’s interim unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations.

As of April 30, 2023, future amortization expense related to the intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending January 31,
Remainder of 2024 $ 6,210 
2025 2,130 
2026 680 
2027 113 
2028 — 
Total $ 9,133 

8
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5.  Convertible Senior Notes

The net carrying amounts of the Company’s 2026 Notes (as defined herein) were as follows for the periods presented (in thousands):

April 30, 2023 January 31, 2023

Principal $ 1,149,972  $ 1,149,972 
Unamortized debt issuance costs (9,245) (10,092)

Net carrying amount $ 1,140,727  $ 1,139,880 

As of April 30, 2023, the estimated fair value (Level 2) of the outstanding 2026 Notes, which is utilized solely for disclosure purposes, was
approximately $1.5 billion. The fair value was determined based on the closing trading price per $100 of the 2026 Notes as of the last day of trading for the
period. The fair value of the 2026 Notes is primarily affected by the trading price of the Company’s common stock and market interest rates.

In January 2020, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2026 in a private placement
and, also in January 2020, the Company issued an additional $150.0 million aggregate principal amount of convertible senior notes pursuant to the exercise
in full of the initial purchasers’ option to purchase additional convertible senior notes (collectively, the “2026 Notes”). The 2026 Notes are senior unsecured
obligations of the Company and interest is payable semiannually in arrears on July 15 and January 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2020, at a rate of
0.25% per year. The 2026 Notes will mature on January 15, 2026, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The total net proceeds from the
offering, after deducting initial purchase discounts and estimated debt issuance costs, were approximately $1.13 billion.

Refer to Note 6, Convertible Senior Notes, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of the Company’s 2023
Form 10-K for further information on the 2026 Notes.

During the three months ended April 30, 2023, the conditional conversion feature of the 2026 Notes was not triggered as the last reported sale price
of the Company's common stock was not more than or equal to 130% of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive
trading days ending on April 28, 2023 (the last trading day of the fiscal quarter) and therefore the 2026 Notes are not convertible, in whole or in part, from
May 1, 2023 through July 31, 2023. Whether the 2026 Notes will be convertible following such period will depend on the continued satisfaction of this
condition or another conversion condition in the future.

Capped Calls

In connection with the pricing of the issuance of our convertible notes due June 15, 2024 (the “2024 Notes”) and the 2026 Notes, the Company
entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain counterparties (the “Capped Calls”). The Capped Calls associated with the 2024
Notes each have an initial strike price of approximately $68.15 per share, subject to certain adjustments, which corresponded to the initial conversion price
of the 2024 Notes. These Capped Calls have initial cap prices of $106.90 per share, subject to certain adjustments.

The Capped Calls associated with the 2026 Notes each have an initial strike price of approximately $211.20 per share, subject to certain adjustments,
which corresponds to the initial conversion price of the 2026 Notes. These Capped Calls have initial cap prices of $296.42 per share, subject to certain
adjustments. The Company did not unwind any of its Capped Calls through April 30, 2023.

Refer to Note 6, Convertible Senior Notes, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of the Company’s 2023
Form 10-K for further information on the Capped Calls and the 2024 Notes.

6.  Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable operating and finance lease agreements, principally real estate for office space globally. The
Company may receive renewal or expansion options, leasehold improvement allowances or other incentives on certain lease agreements. Lease terms range
from one to 12 years and may include renewal options, which the company deems reasonably certain to be renewed. The exercise of the lease renewal
option is at the company's discretion.

9
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Lease Costs

The components of the Company’s lease costs included in its interim unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations were as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Finance lease cost:
Amortization of finance lease right-of-use assets $ 994  $ 994 
Interest on finance lease liabilities 676  750 

Operating lease cost 2,658  2,564 
Short-term lease cost 1,363  537 
Total lease cost $ 5,691  $ 4,845 

Balance Sheet Components

The balances of the Company’s finance and operating leases were recorded on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands):

April 30, 2023 January 31, 2023

Finance Lease:
Property and equipment, net $ 26,495  $ 27,489 
Other accrued liabilities, current 5,561  5,483 
Other liabilities, non-current 42,270  43,690 

Operating Leases:
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 40,072  $ 41,194 
Operating lease liabilities, current 8,605  8,686 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 35,611  36,264 

Supplemental Information

The following table presents supplemental information related to the Company’s finance and operating leases (in thousands, except weighted-
average information):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from finance lease $ 676  $ 750 
Operating cash flows from operating leases 2,983  2,722 
Financing cash flows from finance lease 1,342  595 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases $ 1,177  $ 5,744 

Weighted-average remaining lease term as of period end (in years):
Finance lease 6.7 7.7
Operating leases 5.9 6.6

Weighted-average discount rate:
Finance lease 5.6 % 5.6 %
Operating leases 5.6 % 5.0 %

10
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MONGODB, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maturities of Lease Liabilities

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable finance and operating leases on an annual undiscounted cash flow basis as of April 30, 2023
were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending January 31, Finance Lease Operating Leases

Remainder of 2024 $ 6,055  $ 8,997 
2025 8,445  10,708 
2026 8,711  8,707 
2027 8,711  6,356 
2028 8,711  4,857 
Thereafter 16,696  12,550 
Total minimum payments 57,329  52,175 

Less imputed interest (9,498) (7,959)
Present value of future minimum lease payments 47,831  44,216 

Less current obligations under leases (5,561) (8,605)
Non-current lease obligations $ 42,270  $ 35,611 

7.  Commitments and Contingencies

Non-cancelable Material Commitments

During the three months ended April 30, 2023, other than certain non-cancelable operating leases described in Note 6, Leases, there have been no
material changes outside the ordinary course of business to the Company’s contractual obligations and commitments from those disclosed in the 2023 Form
10-K.

Legal Matters

The Company investigates all claims, litigation and other legal matters as they arise. From time to time, the Company has become involved in
claims, litigation and other legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business, including intellectual property, labor and employment and breach of
contract claims. For example, on March 12, 2019, Realtime Data LLC (“Realtime”) filed a lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court
for the District of Delaware alleging that the Company is infringing three U.S. patents that it holds. On May 4, 2021, the District Court granted certain
defendants' motion to dismiss without prejudice. Realtime filed an amended complaint on May 18, 2021, which the District Court dismissed on August 23,
2021. On August 25, 2021, Realtime filed a notice of appeal of the Delaware District Court’s order. The oral argument took place before the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit on February 10, 2023. Although claims and litigation are inherently unpredictable, as of April 30, 2023, the Company does
not believe that any legal matters, if determined adversely to the Company, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on its
business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The Company accrues estimates for resolution of legal and other contingencies when losses
are probable and estimable. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense and settlement costs,
diversion of management resources and other factors.

Indemnification

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under its agreements with other companies in the ordinary course of business, including
business partners, landlords, contractors and parties performing its research and development. Pursuant to these arrangements, the Company agrees to
indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the indemnified party for certain losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of the Company’s
activities. The terms of these indemnification agreements are generally perpetual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could
be required to make under these agreements is not determinable. To date, the Company has not incurred material costs as a result of such commitments.
The Company maintains commercial general liability insurance and product liability insurance to offset certain of the Company’s potential liabilities under
these indemnification provisions.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and executive officers. These agreements require the Company
to indemnify such individuals, to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law, for certain liabilities to which they may become subject as a result of their
affiliation with the Company.

8.  Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

Based on the information provided to and reviewed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, its Chief Operating Decision Maker, the Company
believes that the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of its revenue and cash flows and how they are affected by economic factors is most appropriately
depicted through the Company’s primary geographical markets and subscription product categories. The Company’s primary geographical markets are
North and South America (“Americas”); Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”); and Asia Pacific. The Company also disaggregates its subscription
products between its MongoDB Atlas-related offerings and other subscription products, which include MongoDB Enterprise Advanced.

The following table presents the Company’s revenues disaggregated by primary geographical markets, subscription product categories and services
(in thousands):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Primary geographical markets:
Americas $ 222,346  $ 174,056 
EMEA 105,123  81,969 
Asia Pacific 40,811  29,422 
Total $ 368,280  $ 285,447 

Subscription product categories and services:
MongoDB Atlas-related $ 237,756  $ 169,995 
Other subscription 116,958  104,586 
Services 13,566  10,866 
Total $ 368,280  $ 285,447 

Customers located in the United States accounted for 54% and 55% of total revenue for the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. No other country accounted for 10% or more of revenue for the periods presented.

Contract Liabilities

The Company’s contract liabilities are recorded as deferred revenue in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet and consist of customer
invoices issued or payments received in advance of revenues being recognized from the Company’s subscription and services contracts. Deferred revenue,
including current and non-current balances, as of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023 was $412.8 million and $460.3 million, respectively. Approximately
45% and 43% of the total revenue recognized for the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, was from deferred revenue at the beginning
of each respective period.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent the aggregate amount of the transaction price in contracts allocated to performance obligations not
delivered, or partially undelivered, as of the end of the reporting period. Remaining performance obligations include unearned revenue, multi-year contracts
with future installment payments and certain unfulfilled orders against accepted customer contracts at the end of any given period. As of April 30, 2023, the
aggregate transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was $470.7 million. Approximately 59% is expected to be recognized as
revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter. The Company applies the practical expedient to omit disclosure with respect to the amount
of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the related contract has a total duration of 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Unbilled Receivables

Revenue recognized in excess of invoiced amounts creates an unbilled receivable, which represents the Company’s unconditional right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Company has transferred to the customer. Unbilled receivables are recorded as part of accounts
receivable, net in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023, unbilled receivables were $8.8 million
and $9.7 million, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company considers expectations of forward-looking losses, in addition to historical loss rates, to estimate its allowance for doubtful accounts on
its accounts receivable. The following is a summary of the changes in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands):

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Balance at January 31, 2023 $ 6,362 
Provision 1,872 
Recoveries/write-offs (1,722)

Balance as of April 30, 2023 $ 6,512 

Costs Capitalized to Obtain Contracts with Customers

Deferred commissions were $249.8 million and $252.4 million as of April 30, 2023 and January 31, 2023, respectively. Amortization expense with
respect to deferred commissions, which is included in sales and marketing expense in the Company’s interim unaudited condensed consolidated statements
of operations, was $23.1 million and $17.6 million for the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. There was no impairment loss in
relation to the costs capitalized for the periods presented.

9. Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Equity Incentive Plan

The Company adopted the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2008 Plan”) and the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended the “2016
Plan”), primarily for the purpose of granting stock-based awards to eligible employees, directors and consultants, including stock options, restricted stock
units (“RSUs”) and other stock-based awards. With the establishment of the 2016 Plan in December 2016, all shares available for grant under the 2008 Plan
were transferred to the 2016 Plan. The Company no longer grants any stock-based awards under the 2008 Plan and any shares underlying stock options
canceled under the 2008 Plan will be automatically transferred to the 2016 Plan.

Stock Options

The 2016 Plan provides for the issuance of incentive stock options to eligible employees and non-statutory stock options to eligible employees,
directors or consultants. The Company’s Board of Directors, or a committee thereof, determines the vesting schedule for all equity awards. Stock option
awards generally vest over a period of four years with 25% vesting on the one-year anniversary of the award and the remainder vesting monthly over the
next 36 months of the grantee’s service to the Company. There were no stock options granted during the three months ended April 30, 2023.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the three months ended April 30, 2023 (in thousands, except share and per share data and
years):

Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise

Price Per Share

Weighted- Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(In Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Balance - January 31, 2023 1,789,813  $ 7.60  3.3 $ 313,980 
Stock options exercised (213,713) 6.89 
Stock options forfeited and expired —  — 

Balance - April 30, 2023 1,576,100  $ 7.70  3.1 $ 366,065 
Vested and exercisable - January 31, 2023 1,789,813  $ 7.60  3.3 $ 313,980 
Vested and exercisable - April 30, 2023 1,576,100  $ 7.70  3.1 $ 366,065 

Restricted Stock Units

The 2016 Plan provides for the issuance of RSUs to eligible employees, directors and consultants. RSUs granted to new employees generally vest
over a period of four years with 25% vesting on the one-year anniversary of the vesting start date and the remainder vesting quarterly over the next 12
quarters, subject to the grantee’s continued service to the Company. RSUs granted to existing employees generally vest quarterly over a period of four
years, subject to the grantee’s continued service to the Company.

The following table summarizes RSU activity for the three months ended April 30, 2023:

Shares
Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value per RSU

Unvested - January 31, 2023 3,480,206  $ 288.58 
RSUs granted 1,564,517  217.42 
RSUs vested (388,017) 250.23 
RSUs forfeited and canceled (168,192) 306.20 

Unvested - April 30, 2023 4,488,514  $ 276.15 

2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In October 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and stockholders approved, the 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2017
ESPP”). Subject to any plan limitations, the 2017 ESPP allows eligible employees to contribute, normally through payroll deductions, up to 15% of their
earnings for the purchase of the Company’s common stock at a discounted price per share. The Company’s current offering period began December 16,
2022 and is expected to end on June 15, 2023.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations is as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Cost of revenue—subscription $ 5,514  $ 4,467 
Cost of revenue—services 2,948  2,212 
Sales and marketing 37,606  30,534 
Research and development 44,066  35,483 
General and administrative 13,821  10,870 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 103,955  $ 83,566 
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculates basic net loss per share by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares
outstanding for the period, including stock options, restricted stock units and shares underlying the conversion option of the convertible senior notes. Basic
and diluted net loss per share was the same for each period presented, as the inclusion of all potential common shares outstanding would have been anti-
dilutive due to the net loss reported for each period presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except share and per share data):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Numerator:

Net loss $ (54,246) $ (77,294)

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic and diluted 70,177,499  67,706,502 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.77) $ (1.14)

In connection with the issuance of the 2024 Notes and 2026 Notes, the Company entered into Capped Calls, which were not included for purposes of
calculating the number of diluted shares outstanding, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. The Capped Calls are expected to partially offset the
potential dilution to the Company’s common stock upon any conversion of the 2024 Notes and the 2026 Notes. The Company has not exercised any of its
Capped Calls as of April 30, 2023.

The following weighted-average outstanding potentially dilutive shares of common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per
share for the periods presented because the impact of including them would have been anti-dilutive:

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Stock options pursuant to the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan 504,452  621,307 
Stock options pursuant to the 2008 Stock Incentive Plan 1,152,990  1,836,934 
Unvested restricted stock units 4,054,925  3,675,756 
Unvested executive PSUs 174,119  42,876 
Shares underlying the conversion option of the 2026 Notes 5,445,002  5,445,069 
Total 11,331,488  11,621,942 
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11. Income Taxes

The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $2.5 million and $1.1 million for the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The provisions recorded during the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022 were driven by the increase in global income and the
associated foreign taxes as the Company continues its global expansion. The calculation of income taxes was based upon the estimated annual effective tax
rates for the year applied to the jurisdictional mix of current period loss before tax plus the tax effect of any significant unusual items, discrete events or
changes in tax law.

The Company regularly assesses the need for a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. In making that assessment, the Company
considers both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of
available evidence, whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company has maintained a
valuation allowance on U.S., U.K. and Ireland net deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized.

The Company assesses uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740-10, Accounting for Uncertainties in Tax. As of January 31, 2023, the
Company’s net unrecognized tax benefits totaled $29.3 million, which would have no impact on the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized.

The Company continues to monitor and interpret the impact of proposed and enacted global tax legislation. To date, globally enacted tax legislation
has not materially impacted income tax expense of the financial statements due to the presence of net operating losses and full valuation allowances within
the Company’s two most significant tax jurisdictions, the United States and Ireland.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, references in this report to the terms “MongoDB,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and “us” refer to MongoDB,
Inc., its divisions and its subsidiaries. The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with (1) our interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and (2) the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes and the discussion under the heading “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2023 (the
“2023 Form 10-K”). All information presented herein is based on our fiscal calendar year, which ends January 31. Unless otherwise stated, references to
particular years, quarters, months or periods refer to our fiscal years ended January 31 and the associated quarters, months and periods of those fiscal years.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These statements are often
identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,” “will,”
“would” or the negative or plural of these words or similar expressions or variations, including our expectations regarding our future growth opportunity,
revenue and revenue growth, investments, strategy, operating expenses and the anticipated impact of the global economic uncertainty and financial market
conditions, caused by the macroeconomic environment, on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Such forward-looking statements are
subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially
from future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not
limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors,” set forth in Part 2, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the
date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after
the date of such statements.

Our corporate website is located at www.mongodb.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our corporate website, our annual, quarterly
and current reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such reports with, or furnishing such
reports to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Information contained on our corporate website is not part of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q or any other report filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Overview

MongoDB is the developer data platform company whose mission is to empower developers to create, transform, and disrupt industries by
unleashing the power of software and data. The foundation of our offering is the world’s leading, modern general purpose database. Organizations can
deploy our database at scale in the cloud, on-premises, or in a hybrid environment. Built on our unique document-based architecture, our database is
designed to meet the needs of organizations for performance, scalability, flexibility and reliability while maintaining the strengths of relational databases. In
addition to the database, our developer data platform includes a set of, tightly integrated, capabilities such as search, time series and application-driven
analytics that allow developers to address a broader range of application requirements. Our business model combines the developer mindshare and adoption
benefits of open source with the economic benefits of a proprietary software subscription business model. MongoDB is headquartered in New York City
and our total headcount increased to 4,527 as of April 30, 2023, from 3,798 as of April 30, 2022.

We generate revenue primarily from sales of subscriptions, which accounted for 96% of our total revenue for both the three months ended April 30,
2023 and April 30, 2022.
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MongoDB Atlas is our hosted multi-cloud database-as-a-service (“DBaaS”) offering, which we run and manage in the cloud, and includes
comprehensive infrastructure and management, as well as a host of additional features, such as MongoDB Atlas Search, time series and application-driven
analytics. During the three months ended April 30, 2023, MongoDB Atlas revenue represented 65% as compared to 60% of our total revenue during the
three months ended April 30, 2022, reflecting the continued growth of MongoDB Atlas since its introduction in June 2016. We have experienced strong
growth in self-serve customers of MongoDB Atlas. These customers are charged monthly in arrears based on their usage. In addition, we have also seen
growth in MongoDB Atlas customers sold by our sales force. These customers typically sign annual contracts and pay in advance or are invoiced monthly
in arrears based on usage. We expect to continue to see a higher portion of our MongoDB Atlas contracts to be billed monthly in arrears based on usage
without requiring upfront commitments.

MongoDB Enterprise Advanced is our proprietary commercial database server offering for enterprise customers that can run in the cloud, on-
premises or in a hybrid environment. MongoDB Enterprise Advanced revenue represented 28% of our subscription revenue for the three months ended
April 30, 2023 and 33% of our subscription revenue for the three months ended April 30, 2022. We sell subscriptions directly through our field and inside
sales teams, as well as indirectly through channel partners. The majority of our subscription contracts are one year in duration and are invoiced upfront.
When we enter into multi-year subscriptions, the customer is typically invoiced on an annual basis or pays upfront.

Many of our enterprise customers initially get to know our software by using Community Server, which is our free-to-download version of our
database that includes the core functionality developers need to get started with MongoDB without all the features of our commercial platform. Our
platform has been downloaded from our website more than 405 million times since February 2009 and over 140 million times in the last 12 months alone.
We also offer a free tier of MongoDB Atlas, which provides access to our hosted database solution with limited processing power and storage, as well as
certain operational limitations. As a result, with the availability of both Community Server and MongoDB Atlas free tier offerings, our direct sales
prospects are often familiar with our platform and may have already built applications using our technology. A core component of our growth strategy for
MongoDB Atlas and MongoDB Enterprise Advanced is to convert developers and their organizations who are already using Community Server or the free
tier of MongoDB Atlas to become customers of our commercial products and enjoy the benefits of either a self-managed or hosted offering.

We also generate revenue from services, which consist primarily of fees associated with consulting and training services. Revenue from services
accounted for 4% of our total revenue for both the three months ended April 30, 2023 and April 30, 2022. We expect to continue to invest in our services
organization as we believe it plays an important role in accelerating our customers’ realization of the benefits of our platform, which helps drive customer
retention and expansion.

We believe the market for our offerings is large and growing. According to IDC, the worldwide database software market, which it refers to as the
data management systems software market, is forecast to be approximately $81 billion in 2023 growing to approximately $136 billion in 2027. This
represents a 14% compound annual growth rate.

We have experienced rapid growth and have made substantial investments in developing our platform and expanding our sales and marketing
footprint. We intend to continue to invest to grow our business to take advantage of our market opportunity.

Key Factors Affecting Our Performance

Macroeconomic and Other Factors

Our operational and financial performance is subject to risks including those caused by the adverse macroeconomic environment.

Adverse macroeconomic conditions include slower or negative economic growth, higher inflation and higher interest rates. During the three months
ended April 30, 2023, the macroeconomic environment continued to negatively impact our business. For instance, we experienced slower than historical
growth rates for our existing MongoDB Atlas applications. While the impact of these macroeconomic conditions on our business, results of operations and
financial position remain uncertain over the long term, we expect to experience macroeconomic headwinds on growth rate for our existing MongoDB Atlas
applications in the short term.

We continue to monitor the developments of the macroeconomic environment, the geopolitical landscape and, recently, the challenges in the banking
industry. As these factors develop and we evaluate their impact on our business, we may adjust our business practices accordingly. For further discussion of
the potential impacts of these factors on our business,
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operating results, and financial condition, see the section titled “Risk Factors” included in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Growing Our Customer Base and Expanding Our Global Reach

We are intensely focused on continuing to grow our customer base. We have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in our sales and marketing
efforts and developer community outreach, which are critical to driving customer acquisition. As of April 30, 2023, we had over 43,100 customers across a
wide range of industries and in over 100 countries, compared to over 35,200 customers as of April 30, 2022. All affiliated entities are counted as a single
customer and our definition of “customer” excludes users of our free offerings.

As of April 30, 2023, we had over 6,700 customers that were sold through our direct sales force and channel partners, as compared to over 4,800
such customers as of April 30, 2022. These customers, which we refer to as our Direct Sales Customers, accounted for 88% of our subscription revenue for
the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 87% of our subscription revenue for the three months ended April 30, 2022. The percentage of our subscription
revenue from Direct Sales Customers increased during the three months ended April 30, 2023, in part due to existing self-serve customers of MongoDB
Atlas becoming Direct Sales Customers. We are also focused on increasing the number of overall MongoDB Atlas customers as we emphasize the on-
demand scalability of MongoDB Atlas by allowing our customers to consume the product with minimal commitment. We had over 41,600 MongoDB Atlas
customers as of April 30, 2023 compared to over 33,700 as of April 30, 2022. The growth in MongoDB Atlas customers included new customers to
MongoDB and existing MongoDB Enterprise Advanced customers adding incremental MongoDB Atlas workloads.

Retaining and Expanding Revenue from Existing Customers

The economic attractiveness of our subscription-based model is driven by customer renewals and increasing existing customer subscriptions over
time, referred to as land-and-expand. We believe that there is a significant opportunity to drive additional sales to existing customers, and expect to invest
in sales and marketing and customer success personnel and activities to achieve additional revenue growth from existing customers. If an application grows
and requires additional capacity, our customers increase their usage of our platform. Growth of an application is impacted by a number of factors including
the macroeconomic environment. During the three months ended April 30, 2023, we believe we experienced a negative impact from the macroeconomic
environment on the growth of existing Atlas applications, which affected our revenue growth. We expect the macroeconomic environment to continue to
negatively impact our revenue growth for the remainder of the year. In addition, our customers add incremental workloads or expand their subscriptions to
our platform as they migrate additional existing applications or build new applications, either within the same department or in other lines of business or
geographies. Also, as customers modernize their information technology infrastructure and move to the cloud, they may migrate applications from legacy
databases. Our goal is to increase the number of customers that standardize on our platform within their organization, as well as add new workloads with
new and existing customers. Over time, the subscription amount for our typical Direct Sales Customer has increased.

We calculate annualized recurring revenue (“ARR”) and annualized monthly recurring revenue (“MRR”) to help us measure our subscription
revenue performance. ARR includes the revenue we expect to receive from our customers over the following 12 months based on contractual commitments
and, in the case of Direct Sales Customers of MongoDB Atlas, by annualizing the prior 90 days of their actual usage of MongoDB Atlas, assuming no
increases or reductions in their subscriptions or usage. For all other customers of our self-serve products, we calculate annualized MRR by annualizing the
prior 30 days of their actual usage of such products, assuming no increases or reductions in usage. ARR and annualized MRR exclude professional
services. The number of customers with $100,000 or greater in ARR and annualized MRR was 1,761 and 1,379 as of April 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
Our ability to increase sales to existing customers will depend on a number of factors, including customers’ satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our products
and services, competition, pricing, economic conditions or overall changes in our customers’ spending levels.

We also examine the rate at which our customers increase their spend with us, which we call net ARR expansion rate. We calculate net ARR
expansion rate by dividing the ARR at the close of a given period (the “measurement period”), from customers who were also customers at the close of the
same period in the prior year (the “base period”), by the ARR from all customers at the close of the base period, including those who churned or reduced
their subscriptions. For Direct Sales Customers included in the base period, measurement period or both such periods that were self-serve customers in any
such period, we also include annualized MRR from those customers in the calculation of the net ARR expansion rate. Our net ARR expansion rate has
consistently been over 120% demonstrating our ability to expand within existing customers.
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Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

Subscription Revenue. Our subscription revenue is comprised of term licenses and hosted as-a-service solutions. Revenue from our MongoDB Atlas
offering is primarily generated on a usage basis and is billed either monthly in arrears or paid upfront. Subscriptions to term licenses include technical
support and access to new software versions on a when-and-if available basis. Revenue from our term licenses is recognized upfront for the license
component and ratably for the technical support and when-and-if available update components. Associated contracts are typically billed annually in
advance. The majority of our subscription contracts are one year in duration. When we enter into multi-year subscriptions, the customer is typically
invoiced on an annual basis or pays upfront. Our subscription contracts are generally non-cancelable and non-refundable.

Services Revenue. Services revenue is comprised of consulting and training services and is recognized over the period of delivery of the applicable
services. We recognize revenue from services agreements as services are delivered.

We expect our revenue may vary from period to period based on, among other things, the timing and size of new subscriptions, customer usage
patterns, the proportion of term license contracts that commence within the period, the rate of customer renewals and expansions, delivery of professional
services, the impact of significant transactions and seasonality of or fluctuations in usage from our MongoDB Atlas customers.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Subscription Revenue. Cost of subscription revenue primarily includes third-party cloud infrastructure expenses for our hosted as-a-service
solutions. We expect our cost of subscription revenue to increase in absolute dollars as our subscription revenue increases and, depending on the results of
MongoDB Atlas, our cost of subscription revenue may increase as a percentage of subscription revenue as well. Cost of subscription revenue also includes
personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses and benefits and stock-based compensation, for employees associated with our subscription arrangements
principally related to technical support and allocated shared costs, as well as depreciation and amortization.

Cost of Services Revenue. Cost of services revenue primarily includes personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses and benefits, and stock‐based
compensation, for employees associated with our professional service contracts, as well as, travel costs, allocated shared costs and depreciation and
amortization. We expect our cost of services revenue to increase in absolute dollars as our services revenue increases.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross Profit. Gross profit represents revenue less cost of revenue.

Gross Margin. Gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including
the average sales price of our products and services, the mix of products sold, transaction volume growth and the mix of revenue between subscriptions and
services. We expect our gross margin to fluctuate over time depending on the factors described above and, to the extent MongoDB Atlas revenue increases
as a percentage of total revenue, our gross margin may decline as a result of the associated hosting costs of MongoDB Atlas.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses. Personnel costs are the
most significant component of each category of operating expenses. Operating expenses also include travel and related costs and allocated overhead costs
for facilities, information technology and employee benefit costs.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, sales commission and benefits, bonuses
and stock‐based compensation. These expenses also include costs related to marketing programs, travel‐related expenses and allocated overhead. Marketing
programs consist of advertising, events, corporate communications, and brand‐building and developer‐community activities. We expect our sales and
marketing expense to increase in absolute dollars over time as we expand our sales force and increase our marketing resources, expand into new markets
and further develop our self-serve and partner channels.
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Research and Development. Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses and benefits, and
stock‐based compensation. It also includes amortization associated with intangible acquired assets and allocated overhead. We expect our research and
development expenses to continue to increase in absolute dollars, as we continue to invest in our developer data platform and develop new products.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, bonuses and benefits, and
stock‐based compensation for administrative functions including finance, legal, human resources and external legal and accounting fees, as well as
allocated overhead. We expect general and administrative expense to increase in absolute dollars over time as we continue to invest in the growth of our
business, as well as incur the ongoing costs of compliance associated with being a publicly-traded company.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income, interest expense, gains and losses on investments and gains and losses from
foreign currency transactions.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists primarily of state income taxes in the United States and income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we
conduct business.

We account for income taxes and the related accounts under the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, using enacted rates expected to be in effect during the year in which the
basis differences reverse.

We regularly assess the need for a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. In making that assessment, we consider both positive and
negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of available evidence, whether it is
more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. We have maintained a valuation allowance on U.S., U.K. and Ireland net
deferred tax assets, as it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Three Months Ended April 30, 2023 Summary

For the three months ended April 30, 2023, our total revenue increased to $368.3 million as compared to $285.4 million for the three months ended
April 30, 2022, primarily driven by an increase in subscription revenue from our Direct Sales Customers. Our net loss decreased to $54.2 million for the
three months ended April 30, 2023 as compared to $77.3 million for the three months ended April 30, 2022, primarily driven by an increase in revenue,
partially offset by increased sales and marketing and research and development costs during the three months ended April 30, 2023.

Our operating cash flow was $53.7 million and $11.6 million for the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented in U.S. dollars (unaudited, in thousands) and as a percentage of our
total revenue. Percentage of revenue figures are rounded and therefore may not subtotal exactly.

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue:

Subscription $ 354,714  $ 274,581 
Services 13,566  10,866 

Total revenue 368,280  285,447 
Cost of revenue:

Subscription 78,173  64,569 
Services 19,276  13,646 

Total cost of revenue 97,449  78,215 
Gross profit 270,831  207,232 
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 182,733  150,268 
Research and development 116,817  96,372 
General and administrative 39,828  36,532 

Total operating expenses 339,378  283,172 
Loss from operations (68,547) (75,940)
Other income (expense), net 16,788  (208)
Loss before provision for income taxes (51,759) (76,148)
Provision for income taxes 2,487  1,146 
Net loss $ (54,246) $ (77,294)

    Includes stock‐based compensation expense as follows (unaudited, in thousands):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Cost of revenue—subscription $ 5,514  $ 4,467 
Cost of revenue—services 2,948  2,212 
Sales and marketing 37,606  30,534 
Research and development 44,066  35,483 
General and administrative 13,821  10,870 

Total stock‐based compensation expense $ 103,955  $ 83,566 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Percentage of Revenue Data:
Revenue:

Subscription 96 % 96 %
Services 4 % 4 %

Total revenue 100 % 100 %
Cost of revenue:

Subscription 21 % 22 %
Services 5 % 5 %

Total cost of revenue 26 % 27 %
Gross profit 74 % 73 %
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 50 % 53 %
Research and development 32 % 34 %
General and administrative 11 % 13 %

Total operating expenses 93 % 100 %
Loss from operations (19)% (27)%
Other income (expense), net 5 % — %
Loss before provision for income taxes (14)% (27)%
Provision for income taxes 1 % — %
Net loss (15)% (27)%

Comparison of the Three Months Ended April 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

Three Months Ended April 30, Change

(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Subscription $ 354,714  $ 274,581  $ 80,133  29 %
Services 13,566  10,866  2,700  25 %

Total revenue $ 368,280  $ 285,447  $ 82,833  29 %

Total revenue growth reflects increased demand for our platform and related services. Subscription revenue increased by $80.1 million primarily due
to an increase of $72.7 million from our Direct Sales Customers, inclusive of the impact from Direct Sales Customers who were self-serve customers of
MongoDB Atlas in the prior-year period. The increase in services revenue was driven primarily by the continued increase in delivery of consulting services.
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Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin Percentage

Three Months Ended April 30, Change
(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Subscription cost of revenue $ 78,173  $ 64,569  $ 13,604  21 %
Services cost of revenue 19,276  13,646  5,630  41 %

Total cost of revenue 97,449  78,215  19,234  25 %
Gross profit $ 270,831  $ 207,232  $ 63,599  31 %
Gross margin 74 % 73 %

Subscription 78 % 76 %
Services (42)% (26)%

The increase in subscription cost of revenue was primarily due to a $9.6 million increase in third‐party cloud infrastructure costs, including costs
associated with the growth of MongoDB Atlas. The increase in third-party infrastructure costs was partly offset by continued cost efficiencies realized as
we scale MongoDB Atlas. In addition, subscription cost of revenue was higher due to a $3.5 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based
compensation associated with increased headcount in our support organization. The increase in services cost of revenue was primarily due to a $4.5 million
increase in personnel costs and stock-based compensation associated with increased headcount in our services organization. Total headcount in our support
and services organizations increased 25% from April 30, 2022 to April 30, 2023.

Our overall gross margin improved to 74%. Our subscription gross margin increased to 78% as efficiencies realized in managing our third-party
cloud infrastructure costs more than offset the negative margin impact from the increasing percentage of revenue from MongoDB Atlas. The impact of
higher services personnel costs and stock-based compensation resulted in negative services gross margin.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Three Months Ended April 30, Change

(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Sales and marketing $ 182,733  $ 150,268  $ 32,465  22 %

The increase in sales and marketing expense included $24.4 million from higher personnel costs and stock-based compensation, driven by an
increase in our sales and marketing headcount to 2,157 as of April 30, 2023 from 1,864 as of April 30, 2022, which includes non-quota-carrying hires in
sales operations, customer success and marketing. Sales and marketing expense also increased $7.3 million from costs associated with our higher
headcount, including higher travel costs, primarily due to certain in-person events occurring earlier this year compared to the prior year, and higher
commissions expense.

Research and Development

Three Months Ended April 30, Change
(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Research and development $ 116,817  $ 96,372  $ 20,445  21 %

The increase in research and development expense was primarily driven by a $18.8 million increase in personnel costs and stock-based
compensation as we increased our research and development headcount by 18%.
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General and Administrative

Three Months Ended April 30, Change
(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

General and administrative $ 39,828  $ 36,532  $ 3,296  9 %

The increase in general and administrative expense was due to higher costs to support the growth of our business and to maintain compliance as a
public company. In particular, these higher costs were driven by an increase in general and administrative personnel headcount resulting in $6.7 million
higher personnel costs and stock-based compensation. The increase in general and administrative expense was partially offset by lower computer hardware
costs and lower professional services fees.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Three Months Ended April 30, Change
(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Other income (expense), net $ 16,788  $ (208) $ 16,996  NM

Other income (expense), net, for the three months ended April 30, 2023 improved primarily due to higher interest income from our short-term
investments and unrealized gains related to our non-marketable securities.

Provision for Income Taxes

Three Months Ended April 30, Change
(unaudited, in thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Provision for income taxes $ 2,487  $ 1,146  $ 1,341  117 %

The increase in the provision for income taxes during the three months ended April 30, 2023 and 2022, was primarily due to an increase in foreign
taxes as the Company continued its global expansion.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of April 30, 2023, our principal sources of liquidity were cash, cash equivalents, short‐term investments and restricted cash totaling $1.9 billion.
Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of bank deposits and money market funds. Our short‐term investments consist of U.S. government treasury
securities, and our restricted cash represents collateral for our available credit on corporate credit cards. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents
and short‐term investments will be sufficient to fund our operating and capital needs for at least the next 12 months.

We have generated significant operating losses and negative cash flows from operations as reflected in our accumulated deficit and historical
consolidated statements of cash flows. As of April 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.6 billion. We expect to continue to incur operating losses,
may continue to experience negative cash flows from operations in the future and may require additional capital resources to execute strategic initiatives to
grow our business. Our future capital requirements and adequacy of available funds will depend on many factors, including our growth rate and any impact
on it from global macroeconomic conditions, including rising interest rates, inflation and recent volatility in the banking sector, the timing and extent of
spending to support development efforts, the expansion of sales and marketing and international operation activities, the timing and size of new
subscription introductions and customer usage of our developer data platform, the continuing market acceptance of our subscriptions and services and the
impact of the macroeconomic conditions on the global economy and our business, financial condition and results of operations. As the impact of
macroeconomic conditions on the global economy and our operations continues to evolve, we will continue to assess our liquidity needs. We may in the
future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, services and technologies, including intellectual property rights. We may
be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it
on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, operating results and financial condition would be
adversely affected.
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The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (unaudited, in thousands):

Three Months Ended April 30,
2023 2022

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 53,730  $ 11,574 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 211,282  (28,803)
Net cash provided by financing activities 130  1,061 

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities during the three months ended April 30, 2023 was $53.7 million, driven primarily by an increase in our cash
collections reflecting overall growth of our sales and expansion of our customer base. Accordingly, our accounts receivable decreased by $73.4 million. In
addition, our net loss of $54.2 million, includes non‐cash charges of $104.0 million for stock‐based compensation and $4.4 million for depreciation and
amortization. Partially offsetting these benefits to our operating cash flow were a decrease of $12.6 million in accrued liabilities, reflecting lower expenses
and timing of payments, and a decrease in deferred revenue of $47.3 million.

Cash provided by operating activities during the three months ended April 30, 2022 was $11.6 million primarily driven by an increase in our cash
collections reflecting overall growth of our sales and our expanding customer base. Accordingly, our accounts receivable decreased by $28.7 million. In
addition, our net loss of $77.3 million, included non‐cash charges of $83.6 million for stock‐based compensation, $3.8 million for depreciation and
amortization, $3.0 million for lease-related charges and $2.2 million for accretion of discount on our short-term investments. Partially offsetting these
benefits to our operating cash flow were a decrease of $23.0 million in accrued liabilities and a decrease of $4.7 million in deferred commissions, driven
primarily by higher commissions paid during the three months ended April 30, 2022, as well as higher prepaid expenses of $3.3 million.

Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities during the three months ended April 30, 2023 was $211.3 million, primarily due to maturities of marketable
securities, net of purchases, of $213.2 million and $1.3 million of additional investment in non-marketable securities.

Cash used in investing activities during the three months ended April 30, 2022 was $28.8 million, primarily due to cash used to purchase marketable
securities, net of maturities, of $25.1 million. In addition, we used $2.5 million for purchases of property and equipment and $1.1 million to invest in
additional non-marketable securities.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended April 30, 2023 was $0.1 million, due to proceeds from the exercise of stock
options, partly offset by principal repayments of finance leases.

Cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended April 30, 2022 was $1.1 million, due to proceeds from the exercise of stock
options, partly offset by principal repayments of finance leases.

Seasonality

We have in the past and expect in the future to experience seasonal fluctuations in our revenue and operating results from time to time. We may
experience variability and reduced comparability of our quarterly revenue and operating results with respect to the timing and nature of certain of our
contracts, particularly multi-year contracts that contain a term license. We may also experience fluctuations as MongoDB Atlas revenue is recorded on a
consumption basis and varies with usage, including due to seasonal factors. As MongoDB Atlas revenue continues to increase as a percentage of total
revenue, these fluctuations may have a greater impact on our results of operations. We believe that seasonal fluctuations that we have experienced in the
past may continue in the future.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

During the three months ended April 30, 2023, there were no material changes outside the ordinary course of business to our contractual obligations
and commitments from those disclosed in our 2023 Form 10-K. Refer to Note 6, Leases and Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies, in our Notes to
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further details.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on
an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

There have been no material changes in our critical accounting estimates from those disclosed in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of the 2023 Form 10-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

None.
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ITEM 3.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We have operations both within the United States and internationally, and we are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of business. The
uncertainty that exists in the global economic environment has introduced significant volatility in the financial markets.

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of bank deposits and money market funds, and our short-term investments consist of U.S.
government treasury securities. As of April 30, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term investments of $1.9 billion. The carrying
amount of our cash equivalents reasonably approximates fair value, due to the short maturities of these instruments. The primary objectives of our
investment activities are the preservation of capital, the fulfillment of liquidity needs and the fiduciary control of cash and investments. We do not enter
into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Our investments are exposed to market risk due to a fluctuation in interest rates, which may affect our
interest income and the fair market value of our investments. The effect of a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would not have had a
material impact on the fair market value of our investments as of April 30, 2023.

In January 2020, we issued $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2026 in a private placement (the “2026
Notes”). The fair value of the 2026 Notes is subject to interest rate risk, market risk and other factors due to the conversion feature. The fair value of the
2026 Notes will generally increase as our common stock price increases and will generally decrease as our common stock price declines. The interest and
market value changes affect the fair value of the 2026 Notes, but do not impact our financial position, cash flows or results of operations due to the fixed
nature of the debt obligation. Additionally, we carry the 2026 Notes at face value less unamortized issuance costs on our balance sheet, and we present the
fair value for required disclosure purposes only.

Foreign Currency Risk

Our sales contracts are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, British pounds (“GBP”) or Euros (“EUR”). A portion of our operating expenses are
incurred outside the United States and denominated in foreign currencies and are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
particularly changes in the GBP and EUR. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and
losses in our statements of operations. The effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not
have a material impact on our historical consolidated financial statements for either of the three-month periods ended April 30, 2023 and 2022. Given the
impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical operating results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging
transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency should become more significant. As our international operations grow, we
will continue to reassess our approach to manage our risk relating to fluctuations in currency rates.

Market Risk

We could experience additional volatility to our consolidated statements of operations due to observable price changes and impairments to our non-
marketable securities. These changes could be material based on market conditions and events, particularly in periods of significant market fluctuations that
affect our non-marketable securities. Our non-marketable securities are subject to a risk of partial or total loss of invested capital. As of April 30, 2023 and
January 31, 2023, the total amount of non-marketable securities included in other assets on our balance sheet was $13.3 million and $9.8 million,
respectively.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of April 30, 2023. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of April 30, 2023, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and
Rule 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the three months ended April 30, 2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable
assurance level. However, our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual
acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur
and not be detected.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The information required to be set forth under this Item 1 is incorporated by reference to Note 7, Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-Q.

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. For example, on March 12, 2019, Realtime
Data LLC (“Realtime”) filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware alleging that we are infringing three U.S.
patents that it holds: U.S. Patent No. 9,116,908, U.S. Patent No. 9,667,751 and U.S. Patent No. 8,933,825. On May 4, 2021, in a consolidated action that
includes Realtime's case against MongoDB, the District Court granted certain defendants' motion to dismiss without prejudice, finding that the patents are
invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 101. Realtime filed an amended complaint against us on May 18, 2021, and we moved to dismiss that amended complaint on
June 29, 2021. On August 23, 2021, the District Court granted our motion to dismiss. On August 25, 2021, Realtime filed a notice of appeal of the
Delaware District Court’s order. Realtime filed its appellate brief on December 2, 2021 and the defendants (including MongoDB) filed a responsive brief
on March 11, 2022. Realtime filed a reply brief on April 29, 2022. The oral argument took place before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit on
February 10, 2023.

Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves, our partners and our customers by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third-
party proprietary rights, or to establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty and,
regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and
other factors.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties including those described below. You should consider carefully the
risks and uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this Form 10-Q, including our consolidated financial statements and
related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that
we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks or others not
specified below materialize, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the trading
price of our common stock could decline.

Risk Factors Summary

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk because we are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that could negatively impact
our business, financial condition and results of operations, as more fully described below. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the
following:

• Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy or reductions in information technology spending could limit our ability to grow our
business and materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

• Our business and results of operations depend substantially on our customers renewing their subscriptions with us and expanding their usage of
software and related services. Any decline in our customer renewals or failure to convince our customers to broaden their usage of subscription
offerings and related services could materially and adversely harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidance or other expectations about our business and future operating results, which would cause
our stock price to decline.

• We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations.

• We have a history of losses and as our costs increase, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability.

• Because we derive the majority of our revenue from MongoDB Atlas, failure of MongoDB Atlas to satisfy customer demands could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects and our future revenue may be more difficult to predict.

• We currently face significant competition and expect that intense competition will continue.
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• If we do not effectively expand our sales and marketing organization, we may be unable to add new customers or increase sales to our existing
customers.

• Our decision to offer Community Server under the Server Side Public License (“SSPL”) may harm the adoption of Community Server.

• We could be negatively impacted if the GNU Affero General Public License Version 3 (the “AGPL”), the SSPL and other open source licenses
under which some of our software is licensed are not enforceable.

• Our licensing model for Community Server could negatively affect our ability to monetize and protect our intellectual property rights.

• We could incur substantial costs in obtaining, maintaining, protecting, defending or enforcing our intellectual property rights and any failure to
obtain, maintain, protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights could reduce the value of our software and brand.

• If we are not able to introduce new features or services successfully and to make enhancements to our software or services, our business and
results of operations could be adversely affected.

• We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. If we fail to continue to grow and to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to
execute our business plan, increase our revenue, improve our results of operations, maintain high levels of service, or adequately address
competitive challenges.

• If we or our third-party service providers, experience a security breach or other security incident, or unauthorized access to personal, proprietary,
confidential or other sensitive data is otherwise obtained, our software may be perceived as not being secure, customers may reduce or terminate
their use of our software and we may face litigation, regulatory investigations, significant liability and reputational damage.

• If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, especially among developers, our business and results of operations may be adversely
affected.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the global economy or reductions in information technology spending could limit our ability to grow our
business and materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Our overall performance depends in part on worldwide economic conditions and our results of operations may vary based on the impact of changes
in our industry or the global economy on us or our customers. The revenue growth and potential profitability of our business depend on demand for
database software and services generally and for our subscription offering and related services in particular. Current or future economic uncertainties or
downturns could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Negative conditions in the general economy both in the United
States and abroad, including conditions resulting from changes in gross domestic product growth, labor shortages, supply chain disruptions, inflationary
pressures, rising interest rates, financial and credit market fluctuations, international trade relations and/or the imposition of trade tariffs, political turmoil,
natural catastrophes, regional or global outbreaks of contagious diseases, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, recent volatility in the banking sector, warfare
and terrorist attacks on the United States, Europe, the Asia Pacific region or elsewhere, could cause a decrease in business investments, including spending
on information technology, disrupt the timing and cadence of key industry and marketing events and otherwise could materially and adversely affect the
growth of our business.

Geopolitical risks, including those arising from trade tension and/or the imposition of trade tariffs, terrorist activity or acts of civil or international
hostility, are increasing. Similarly, the ongoing military conflict between Russia and Ukraine has had negative impacts on the global economy, including by
contributing to rapidly rising costs of living (driven largely by higher energy prices) in Europe and created uncertainty in the global capital markets and is
expected to have further global economic consequences, including disruptions of the global supply chain and energy markets. Further, other events outside
of our control, including natural disasters, climate change-related events, pandemics (such as the COVID-19 pandemic) or health crises may arise from
time to time and be accompanied by governmental actions that may increase international tension. Any such events and responses, including regulatory
developments, may cause significant volatility and declines in the global markets, disproportionate impacts to certain industries or sectors, disruptions to
commerce (including to economic activity, travel and supply chains), loss of life and property damage, and may materially and adversely affect the global
economy or capital markets, as well as our business and results of operations.
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Additionally, the global economy, including credit and financial markets, has experienced extreme volatility and disruptions and may continue to
experience such disruptions in the future, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in
economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, increases in inflation rates, higher interest rates and uncertainty about economic stability. As a result of
these factors, our revenues may be affected by both decreased customer acquisition and lower than anticipated revenue growth from existing customers.
For example, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in widespread unemployment, economic slowdown and extreme volatility. Similarly, the ongoing military
conflict between Russia and Ukraine has created extreme volatility in the global capital markets and has caused and could continue to cause disruptions of
the global supply chain and energy markets. Any such volatility and disruptions may have material and adverse consequences on us, the third parties on
whom we rely or our customers. Increased inflation and/or interest rates can adversely affect us by increasing our costs, including labor and employee
benefit costs. Any significant increases in inflation and related increase in interest rates could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Further, to the extent there is a sustained general economic downturn and our database software is perceived by customers and potential customers as
costly, or too difficult to deploy or migrate to, our revenue may be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in general information technology
spending. This could also result in an extension of our sales cycle with potential customers, thus increasing the time and cost associated with our sales
process. Further, if our customers experience reductions in their technology spending, even if they choose to use our products, they may not purchase
additional products and services in the future due to budget limitations.

In addition, the banking sector has recently experienced increased volatility as a result of several distressed or closed banks and financial institutions.
While we have not suffered any material effects as a result of the increased financial market volatility, we do regularly maintain cash balances at third-party
financial institutions in excess of government- insured limits, and if financial institutions used by us or our customers face insolvency or illiquidity
challenges due to events affecting the banking system and / or financial markets, our and our customers' ability to access existing cash, cash equivalents,
and investments may be threatened. To the extent that the resulting receivership or insolvency causes customers to be unable to, or causes delays, in
accessing bank deposits, our customers may not be able to pay us on time or at all for the products and services that we provide them and they may not
renew their subscriptions with us. The failure of banks or financial institutions and the measures taken by governments, businesses and other organizations
in response to such events could adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Also, competitors, many of whom are larger and more established than we are, may respond to market conditions by lowering prices and attempting
to lure away our customers. In addition, the increased pace of consolidation in certain industries may result in reduced overall spending on our subscription
offerings and related services. We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown, instability or recovery, generally or within
any particular industry. If the economic conditions of the general economy or markets in which we operate worsen from present levels, our business, results
of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations.

We were incorporated in 2007 and introduced MongoDB Community Server in 2009, MongoDB Enterprise Advanced in 2013 and MongoDB Atlas
in 2016. As a result of our limited operating history, our ability to forecast our future results of operations is limited and subject to a number of
uncertainties, including our ability to accurately predict future growth. Our historical revenue growth has been inconsistent and should not be considered
indicative of our future performance. Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow or our revenue could decline for a number of reasons,
including slowing adoption or usage of MongoDB or demand for our subscription offerings and related services, reduced conversion of users of our free
offerings to paying customers, increasing competition, changes to technology or our intellectual property or our failure, for any reason, to continue to
capitalize on growth opportunities. We have also encountered and will encounter risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in
rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties described herein. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties and our future
revenue growth are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our
expectations and our business could suffer.

We have a history of losses and as our costs increase, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred net losses in each period since our inception, including net losses of $345.4 million, $306.9 million and $266.9 million for the
fiscal years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit
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of $1.6 billion as of April 30, 2023. We expect our operating expenses to increase significantly as we increase our sales and marketing efforts, continue to
invest in research and development and expand our operations and infrastructure, both domestically and internationally. In particular, we have entered into
non-cancelable multi-year capacity commitments with respect to cloud infrastructure services with certain third-party cloud providers, which require us to
pay for such capacity irrespective of actual usage. In addition, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant additional legal, accounting and
other expenses related to being a public company. While our revenue has grown in recent years, if our revenue declines or fails to grow at a rate faster than
these increases in our operating expenses, we will not be able to achieve and maintain profitability in future periods. As a result, we expect to continue to
generate losses. We cannot assure you that we will achieve profitability in the future or that, if we do become profitable, we will be able to sustain
profitability.

Because we derive the majority of our revenue from MongoDB Atlas, failure of MongoDB Atlas to satisfy customer demands could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects and our future revenue may be more difficult to predict.

We derive and expect to continue to derive the majority of our revenue from MongoDB Atlas, our database-as-a-service offering, which is primarily
recognized on a usage-basis. As such, market adoption and usage of MongoDB Atlas is critical to our continued success. Although MongoDB Atlas has
seen rapid adoption since its commercial launch in June 2016, and though we intend to continue to direct a significant portion of our financial and
operating resources to develop and grow MongoDB Atlas, including offering a free tier of MongoDB Atlas to generate developer usage and awareness, we
cannot guarantee that rate of adoption will continue at the same pace or at all. Demand for MongoDB Atlas is affected by a number of factors, many of
which are beyond our control, including economic downturns, continued market acceptance by developers, the availability of our Community Server
offering, the continued volume, variety and velocity of data that is generated, timing of development and release of new offerings by our competitors,
technological change and the rate of growth in our market. For instance, among other factors, the adverse macroeconomic conditions resulted in slower
than historical growth of our existing Atlas applications for the three months ended April 30, 2023. If we are unable to continue to meet the demands of our
customers and the developer community, our business operations, financial results and growth prospects will be materially and adversely affected. In
addition, because our customer’s usage of MongoDB Atlas may vary for a number of reasons, our visibility into the timing of revenue recognition is
limited. There is a risk that customers will consume our MongoDB Atlas offering more slowly than we expect, and our actual results may differ from our
forecasts and our future revenue may be less predictable going forward due to, among other things, fluctuations in the rate of customer renewals and
expansions and seasonality of, or fluctuations in, usage of MongoDB Atlas.

Our business and results of operations depend substantially on our customers renewing their subscriptions with us and expanding their usage of
software and related services. Any decline in our customer renewals or failure to convince our customers to broaden their usage of subscription
offerings and related services could materially and adversely harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our subscription offerings are term-based and a majority of our subscription contracts were one year in duration in fiscal year 2023. In order for us
to maintain or improve our results of operations, it is important that our customers renew their subscriptions with us when the existing subscription term
expires and renew on the same or more favorable quantity and terms. Our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions and we may not be
able to accurately predict customer renewal rates. In addition, the growth of our business depends in part on our customers expanding their use of
subscription offerings and related services, including increasing their usage and workloads with us. Historically, some of our customers have elected not to
renew their subscriptions with us or have not expanded their usage of our services over time for a variety of reasons, including as a result of changes in
their strategic IT priorities, budgets, costs and, in some instances, due to competing solutions. Our retention rate may also decline or fluctuate as a result of
a number of other factors, including our customers’ satisfaction or dissatisfaction with our software, the increase in the contract value of subscription and
support contracts from new customers, the effectiveness of our customer support services, our pricing, the prices of competing products or services,
mergers and acquisitions affecting our customer base, global economic conditions and the other risk factors described herein. As a result, we cannot assure
you that customers will renew subscriptions or increase their usage of our software and related services. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions
or renew on less favorable terms, or if we are unable to expand our customers’ usage of our software, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Further, to the extent there is a sustained general economic downturn and our database software is perceived by customers and potential customers as
costly, or too difficult to deploy or migrate to, our revenue may be disproportionately affected by delays or reductions in general information technology
spending. See “—Unfavorable conditions in our industry
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or the global economy or reductions in information technology spending could limit our ability to grow our business and materially and adversely affect
our results of operations.”

We currently face significant competition and expect that intense competition will continue.

The database software market, for both relational and non-relational database products, is highly competitive, rapidly evolving and others may put
out competing databases or sell services in connection with existing open source or source available databases, including ours. The principal competitive
factors in our market include: mindshare with software developers and information technology (“IT”) executives; product capabilities, including flexibility,
scalability, performance, security and reliability; flexible deployment options, including fully managed as a service or self-managed in the cloud, on-
premises or in a hybrid environment and ease of deployment; breadth of use cases supported; ease of integration with existing IT infrastructure; robustness
of professional services and customer support; price and total cost of ownership; adherence to industry standards and certifications; size of customer base
and level of user adoption; strength of sales and marketing efforts; and brand awareness and reputation. If we fail to compete effectively with respect to any
of these competitive factors, we may fail to attract new customers or lose or fail to renew existing customers, which would cause our business and results of
operations to suffer.

We primarily compete with established legacy database software providers such as IBM, Microsoft, Oracle and other similar companies. We also
compete with public cloud providers such as Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), Google Cloud Platform (“GCP”) and Microsoft Azure that offer database
functionality and non-relational database software providers. In addition, other large software and internet companies may seek to enter our market.

Some of our actual and potential competitors, in particular the legacy relational database providers and large cloud providers, have advantages over
us, such as longer operating histories, more established relationships with current or potential customers and commercial partners, significantly greater
financial, technical, marketing or other resources, stronger brand recognition, larger intellectual property portfolios and broader global distribution and
presence. Such competitors may make their products available at a low cost or no cost basis in order to enhance their overall relationships with current or
potential customers. Our competitors may also be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies,
standards or customer requirements, or may be able to devote greater resources than we can to the development, promotion, and sale of their products and
services. As we introduce new technologies and product enhancements, such as the ones we announced during fiscal year 2022, and as our existing markets
see more market entry, we expect competition to intensify in the future. In addition, some of our larger competitors have substantially broader offerings and
can bundle competing products with hardware or other software offerings, including their cloud computing and customer relationship management
platforms. As a result, customers may choose a bundled offering from our competitors, even if individual products have more limited functionality
compared to our software. These larger competitors are also often in a better position to withstand any significant reduction in technology spending and
will therefore not be as susceptible to competition or economic downturns. In addition, some competitors may offer products or services that address one or
a limited number of functions at lower prices, with greater depth than our products or in geographies where we do not operate.

Furthermore, our actual and potential competitors may establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties that may further
enhance their resources and offerings in the markets we address. In addition, third parties with greater available resources may acquire current or potential
competitors. As a result of such relationships and acquisitions, our actual or potential competitors might be able to adapt more quickly to new technologies
and customer needs, devote greater resources to the promotion or sale of their products, initiate or withstand substantial price competition, take advantage
of other opportunities more readily or develop and expand their offerings more quickly than we do. For all of these reasons, we may not be able to compete
successfully against our current or future competitors.

If we do not effectively expand our sales and marketing organization, we may be unable to add new customers or increase sales to our existing
customers.

Increasing our customer base and achieving broader market acceptance of our subscription offerings and related services will depend, to a significant
extent, on our ability to effectively expand our sales and marketing operations and activities. We are substantially dependent on our direct sales force and
our marketing efforts to obtain new customers. We plan to continue to expand our sales and marketing organization both domestically and internationally.
We believe that there is significant competition for experienced sales professionals with the sales skills and technical knowledge that we require,
particularly as we continue to target larger enterprises. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth in the future will depend, in part, on our success in
recruiting, training and retaining a sufficient number of experienced sales professionals, especially in highly competitive markets. New hires require
significant training and time before they achieve full
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productivity, particularly in new or developing sales territories. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as quickly as we expect,
including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and remote work arrangements, and we may be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified
individuals in the future in the markets where we do business, particularly during the current period of heightened employee attrition in the United States
and other countries. Because of our limited operating history, we cannot predict whether, or to what extent, our sales will increase as we expand our sales
and marketing organization or how long it will take for sales personnel to become productive. Our business and results of operations could be harmed if the
expansion of our sales and marketing organization does not generate a significant increase in revenue.

Our adoption strategies include offering Community Server and a free tier of MongoDB Atlas and we may not be able to realize the intended benefits of
these strategies.

To encourage developer usage, familiarity and adoption of our platform, we offer Community Server as a “freemium” offering. Community Server is
a free-to-download version of our database that does not include all of the features of our commercial platform. We also offer a free tier of MongoDB Atlas
in order to accelerate adoption, promote usage and drive brand and product awareness. We do not know if we will be able to convert these users to paying
customers of our platform. Our marketing strategy also depends in part on persuading users who use one of these free versions to convince others within
their organization to purchase and deploy our platform. To the extent that users of Community Server or our free tier of MongoDB Atlas do not become, or
lead others to become, paying customers, we will not realize the intended benefits of these strategies and our ability to grow our business or achieve
profitability may be harmed.

Our decision to offer Community Server under the SSPL, may harm the adoption of Community Server.

On October 16, 2018, we announced that we were changing the license for Community Server from the AGPL to a new software license, the SSPL.
The SSPL builds on the spirit of the AGPL, but includes an explicit condition that any organization attempting to exploit MongoDB as a service must open
source the software that it uses to offer such service. Since the SSPL is a new license and has not been interpreted by any court, developers and the
companies they work for may be hesitant to adopt Community Server because of uncertainty around the provisions of the SSPL and how it will be
interpreted and enforced. In addition, the SSPL has not been approved by the Open Source Initiative, nor has it been included in the Free Software
Foundation’s list of free software licenses. This may negatively impact the adoption of Community Server, which in turn could lead to reduced brand and
product awareness, ultimately leading to a decline in paying customers and our ability to grow our business or achieve profitability may be harmed.

We track certain operational metrics with internal systems and tools and do not independently verify such metrics. Certain of our operational metrics
are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and any real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may adversely affect our business and
reputation.

We track certain operational metrics, including annualized recurring revenue (“ARR”), annualized monthly recurring revenue (“MRR”), ARR
expansion rate, Total Customers, Direct Sales Customers, MongoDB Atlas Customers, Customers over 100K and Downloads of our platform and non-
GAAP metrics such as non-GAAP gross profit, non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP operating expenses, non-GAAP income (loss) from operations, non-
GAAP net income (loss), non-GAAP net income (loss) per share and free cash flow. These operational metrics are tracked with internal systems and tools
that are not independently verified by any third party and which may differ from estimates or similar metrics published by third parties due to differences in
sources, methodologies, or the assumptions on which we rely. Our internal systems and tools have a number of limitations, and our methodologies for
tracking these metrics may change over time, which could result in unexpected changes to our metrics, including the metrics we publicly disclose. If the
internal systems and tools we use to track these metrics undercount or overcount performance or contain algorithmic or other technical errors, the data we
report may not be accurate. While these numbers are based on what we believe to be reasonable estimates of our metrics for the applicable period of
measurement, there are inherent challenges in measuring how our platform is used across large populations. In addition, limitations or errors with respect to
how we measure data or with respect to the data that we measure may affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our
long-term strategies. If our operating metrics are not accurate representations of our business, if investors do not perceive our operating metrics to be
accurate, or if we discover material inaccuracies with respect to these figures, we expect that our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of
operations would be adversely affected.
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We could be negatively impacted if the AGPL, the SSPL and other open source licenses under which some of our software is licensed are not
enforceable.

The versions of Community Server released prior to October 16, 2018 are licensed under the AGPL. This license states that any program licensed
under it may be copied, modified and distributed provided certain conditions are met. On October 16, 2018, we issued a new software license, the SSPL,
for all versions of Community Server released on or after that date. The SSPL builds on the spirit of the AGPL, but includes an explicit condition that any
organization using Community Server to offer MongoDB as a third-party service must open source the software that it uses to offer such service. It is
possible that a court would hold the SSPL or AGPL to be unenforceable. If a court held either license or certain aspects of this license to be unenforceable,
others may be able to use our software to compete with us in the marketplace in a manner not subject to the restrictions set forth in the SSPL or AGPL.

Our licensing model for Community Server could negatively affect our ability to monetize and protect our intellectual property rights.

We make our Community Server offering available under either the SSPL (for versions released on or after October 16, 2018) or the AGPL (for
versions released prior to October 16, 2018). Community Server is a free-to-download version of our database that includes the core functionality
developers need to get started with MongoDB but not all of the features of our commercial platform. Both the SSPL and the AGPL grant licensees broad
freedom to view, use, copy, modify and redistribute the source code of Community Server provided certain conditions are met. Some commercial
enterprises consider SSPL- or AGPL-licensed software to be unsuitable for commercial use because of the “copyleft” requirements of those licenses.
However, some of those same commercial enterprises do not have the same concerns regarding using the software under the SSPL or AGPL for internal
purposes. As a result, these commercial enterprises may never convert to paying customers of our platform. Anyone can obtain a free copy of Community
Server from the Internet and we do not know who all of our SSPL or AGPL licensees are. Competitors could develop modifications of our software to
compete with us in the marketplace. We do not have visibility into how our software is being used by licensees, so our ability to detect violations of the
SSPL or AGPL is extremely limited.

In addition to Community Server, we contribute other source code to open source projects under open source licenses and release internal software
projects under open source licenses and anticipate doing so in the future. Because the source code for Community Server and any other software we
contribute to open source projects or distribute under open source licenses is publicly available, our ability to monetize and protect our intellectual property
rights with respect to such source code may be limited or, in some cases, lost entirely.

Our software incorporates third-party open source software, which could negatively affect our ability to sell our products and subject us to possible
litigation.

Our software includes third-party open source software and we intend to continue to incorporate third-party open source software in our products in
the future. There is a risk that the use of third-party open source software in our software could impose conditions or restrictions on our ability to monetize
our software. Although we monitor the incorporation of open source software into our products to avoid such restrictions, we cannot be certain that we
have not incorporated open source software in our products or platform in a manner that is inconsistent with our licensing model or that we have not
breached the terms of an applicable open source license agreement, in part because open source license terms are often ambiguous. Certain open source
projects also include other open source software and there is a risk that those dependent open source libraries may be subject to inconsistent licensing
terms. This could create further uncertainties as to the governing terms for the open source software we incorporate.

In addition, the terms of certain open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S. or foreign courts and there is a risk
that open source software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated restrictions or conditions on our use of such software.
Additionally, we may from time to time face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or demanding release of, the software or derivative works
that we developed using such open source software, which could include proprietary portions of our source code, or otherwise seeking to enforce the terms
of the applicable open source licenses. These claims could result in litigation and could require us to make those proprietary portions of our source code
freely available, purchase a costly license or cease offering the implicated software or services unless and until we can re-engineer them to avoid
infringement. This re-engineering process could require significant additional research and development resources and we may not be able to complete it
successfully.

In addition to risks related to license requirements, the use of third-party open source software can lead to greater risks than the use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties, indemnities or
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other contractual protections with respect to the software (for example, non-infringement or functionality). There is typically no support available for open
source software, and we cannot ensure that the authors of such open source software will implement or push updates to address security risks or will not
abandon further development and maintenance. Our use of open source software may also present additional security risks because the source code for
open source software is publicly available, which may make it easier for hackers and other third parties to determine how to breach our systems that rely on
open source software. In addition, licensors of open source software included in our offerings may, from time to time, modify the terms of their license
agreements in such a manner that those license terms may become incompatible with our licensing model and thus could, among other consequences,
prevent us from incorporating the software subject to the modified license.

Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage and if not addressed, could have a negative effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

If we are not able to introduce new features or services successfully and to make enhancements to our software or services, our business and results of
operations could be adversely affected.

Our ability to attract new customers and increase revenue from existing customers depends in part on our ability to enhance and improve our
software and to introduce new features and services. To grow our business and remain competitive, we must continue to enhance our software and develop
features that reflect the constantly evolving nature of technology and our customers’ needs. For instance, with the development of next-generation solutions
that utilize new and advanced features, including artificial intelligence (“AI”) and machine learning, we may be required to commit significant resources to
developing new products, enhancements and developments. The success of new products, enhancements and developments depends on several factors: our
anticipation of market changes and demands for product features, including timely product introduction and conclusion, sufficient customer demand, cost
effectiveness in our product development efforts and the proliferation of new technologies that are able to deliver competitive products and services at
lower prices, more efficiently, more conveniently or more securely. In addition, because our software is designed to operate with a variety of systems,
applications, data and devices, we will need to continuously modify and enhance our software to keep pace with changes in such systems. We may not be
successful in developing these modifications and enhancements. Furthermore, the addition of features and solutions to our software will increase our
research and development expenses. Any new features that we develop may not be introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner or may not achieve the
market acceptance necessary to generate sufficient revenue to justify the related expenses. It is difficult to predict customer adoption of new features. Such
uncertainty limits our ability to forecast our future results of operations and subjects us to a number of challenges, including our ability to plan for and
model future growth. If we cannot address such uncertainties and successfully develop new features, enhance our software or otherwise overcome
technological challenges and competing technologies, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We also offer professional services including consulting and training and must continually adapt to assist our customers in deploying our software in
accordance with their specific IT strategies. If we cannot introduce new services or enhance our existing services to keep pace with changes in our
customers’ deployment strategies, we may not be able to attract new customers, retain existing customers and expand their use of our software or secure
renewal contracts, which are important for the future of our business.

Our success is highly dependent on our ability to penetrate the existing market for database products, as well as the growth and expansion of the
market for database products.

Our future success will depend in large part on our ability to service existing demand, as well as the continued growth and expansion of the database
market. It is difficult to predict demand for our offerings, the conversion from one to the other and related services and the size, growth rate and expansion
of these markets, the entry of competitive products or the success of existing competitive products. Our ability to penetrate the existing database market and
any expansion of the market depends on a number of factors, including cost, performance and perceived value associated with our subscription offerings, as
well as our customers’ willingness to adopt an alternative approach to relational and other database products available in the market. Furthermore, many of
our potential customers have made significant investments in relational databases, such as offerings from Oracle, and may be unwilling to invest in new
products. If the market for databases fails to grow at the rate that we anticipate or decreases in size or we are not successful in penetrating the existing
market, our business would be harmed.
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Our future quarterly results may fluctuate significantly and if we fail to meet the expectations of analysts or investors, our stock price could decline
substantially.

Our results of operations, including our revenue, operating expenses and cash flows may vary significantly in the future as a result of a variety of
factors, many of which are outside of our control, may be difficult to predict and may or may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business
and period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. Some of the factors that may cause our results of operations to fluctuate
from quarter to quarter include:

• changes in actual and anticipated growth rates of our revenue, customers and other key operating metrics;

• new product announcements, pricing changes and other actions by competitors;

• the mix of revenue and associated costs attributable to subscriptions for our MongoDB Atlas and MongoDB Enterprise Advanced offerings (such
as our non-cancelable multi-year cloud infrastructure capacity commitments, which require us to pay for such capacity irrespective of actual
usage) and professional services, as such relative mix may impact our gross margins and operating income;

• the mix of revenue and associated costs attributable to sales where subscriptions are bundled with services versus sold on a standalone basis and
sales by us and our partners;

• our ability to attract new customers;

• our ability to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities and teams;

• our ability to retain customers and expand their usage of our software, particularly for our largest customers;

• our inability to enforce the AGPL or SSPL;

• delays in closing sales, including the timing of renewals, which may result in revenue being pushed into the next quarter, particularly because a
large portion of our sales occur toward the end of each quarter;

• the timing of revenue recognition;

• the mix of revenue attributable to larger transactions as opposed to smaller transactions;

• changes in customers’ budgets and in the timing of their budgeting cycles and purchasing decisions;

• changes in customers’ consumption of our platform;

• customers and potential customers opting for alternative products, including developing their own in-house solutions, or opting to use only the free
version of our products;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses;

• the timing and success of new products, features and services offered by us and our competitors or any other change in the competitive dynamics
of our industry, including consolidation among competitors, customers or strategic partners;

• significant security breaches or other security incidents, technical difficulties, or interruptions with respect to the delivery and use of our software;

• our failure to maintain the level of service uptime and performance required by our customers;

• the collectability of receivables from customers and resellers, which may be hindered or delayed if these customers or resellers experience
financial distress;

• changes in political and economic conditions, in domestic or international markets;

• general economic conditions, both domestically and internationally, including warfare and terrorist attacks on the United States and other regions
in which we or our customers operate, such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict, as well as economic conditions specifically affecting industries in
which our customers participate;

• sales tax and other tax determinations by authorities in the jurisdictions in which we conduct business;

• the impact of new accounting pronouncements; and

• fluctuations in stock-based compensation expense.
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The occurrence of one or more of the foregoing and other factors may cause our results of operations to vary significantly and be materially and
adversely affected. For example, fluctuations in our quarterly operating results and the price of our common stock may be particularly pronounced in the
current economic environment due to the ongoing geopolitical instability resulting from the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, severely diminished
liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, instability in the banking
sector, increases in inflation rates, higher interest rates and uncertainty about economic stability. In response to the concerns over inflation risk, the U.S.
Federal Reserve has raised interest rates multiple times, and signaled that they will continue to adjust interest rates to stabilize and reduce current levels of
inflation. It is especially difficult to predict the impact of such events on the global economic markets, which have been and will continue to be highly
dependent upon the actions of governments, businesses, and other enterprises in response to the pandemic and macroeconomic events, and the effectiveness
of those actions. Any of these factors or any combination thereof could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition. For instance, among other factors, the adverse macroeconomic conditions resulted in slower than historical growth of our existing Atlas
applications for the three months ended April 30, 2023. We also intend to continue to invest to grow our business and to take advantage of our market
opportunity. Accordingly, historical patterns and our results of operations in any one quarter may not be meaningful and should not be relied upon as
indicative of future performance. Additionally, if our quarterly results of operations fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts who
follow our stock, the price of our common stock could decline substantially and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods. If we fail to continue to grow and to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute
our business plan, increase our revenue, improve our results of operations, maintain high levels of service, or adequately address competitive
challenges.

We have experienced rapid growth in our business, operations and employee headcount. For fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, our total revenue was
$1,284.0 million, $873.8 million and $590.4 million, respectively, representing a 47% and 48% growth rate, respectively. We expect to continue to expand
our operations and employee headcount in the near term. Our success will depend in part on our ability to continue to grow and to manage this growth,
domestically and internationally, effectively.

Our current and anticipated growth is expected to place a significant strain on our management, administrative, operational and financial
infrastructure. We will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management processes and controls and our reporting procedures to
manage the expected growth of our operations and personnel, which will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management and
employee resources. If we fail to implement these infrastructure improvements effectively, our ability to ensure the uninterrupted operation of key business
systems and comply with the rules and regulations that are applicable to public reporting companies will be impaired. Further, if we do not effectively
manage the growth of our business and operations, the quality of our products and services could suffer, the preservation of our culture, values and
entrepreneurial environment may change and we may not be able to adequately address competitive challenges. This could impair our ability to attract new
customers, retain existing customers and expand their use of our products and services, all of which would adversely affect our brand, overall business,
results of operations and financial condition.

If we or our third-party service providers experience a security breach or other security incident, or unauthorized access to personal, proprietary,
confidential or other sensitive data is otherwise obtained, our software may be perceived as not being secure, customers may reduce or terminate their
use of our software and we may face litigation, regulatory investigations, significant liability and reputational damage.

Cyberattacks, malicious internet-based activity, and online and offline fraud, and other similar activities threaten the confidentiality, integrity and
availability of our personal, proprietary, confidential and other sensitive data and our information technology systems, and those of the third parties upon
which we rely to help deliver services to our customers. Such threats are prevalent, increasing in frequency, evolving in nature and becoming increasingly
difficult to detect. These threats come from a variety of sources, including traditional computer “hackers,” threat actors (including organized criminal threat
actors), “hacktivists,” personnel (such as through theft or misuse), sophisticated nation-states, and nation-state-supported actors. In addition, some actors,
such as sophisticated nation-states and nation-state supported actors now engage and are expected to continue to engage in cyberattacks, including without
limitation for geopolitical reasons and in conjunction with military conflicts and defense activities. During times of war and other major conflicts, we and
the third parties upon whom we rely may be vulnerable to a heightened risk of these attacks, including retaliatory cyberattacks, that could materially disrupt
our systems, operations and supply chain. We and the third parties upon which we rely may be subject to a variety of evolving threats, including but not
limited to social-engineering attacks (including through phishing
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attacks), malicious code (such as viruses and worms), malware (including as a result of advanced persistent threat intrusions), denial-of-service attacks
(such as credential stuffing), credential harvesting, personnel misconduct or error, fraud, ransomware attacks, supply-chain attacks, software bugs, server
malfunctions, software or hardware failures, loss of data or other information technology assets, adware, telecommunications failures, pandemics,
earthquakes, fires, floods, and other similar threats.

Ransomware attacks, including by organized criminal threat actors, nation-states, and nation-state-supported actors, are becoming increasingly
prevalent and severe and can lead to significant interruptions in our operations, loss of data and income, reputational harm, and diversion of funds.
Extortion payments may alleviate the negative impact of a ransomware attack, but we may be unwilling or unable to make such payments due to, for
example, applicable laws or regulations prohibiting such payments. Similarly, supply-chain attacks have increased in frequency and severity, and we cannot
guarantee that third parties and infrastructure in our supply chain or our third-party partners’ supply chains have not been compromised or that they do not
contain exploitable defects or bugs that could result in a breach of or disruption to our information technology systems (including our products) or the
third-party information technology systems that support us and our services.

The COVID-19 pandemic increased our remote workforce, which increased risks to our information technology systems and data, as more of our
employees work from home, utilizing network connections, computers and devices outside our premises or network, including while at home, in transit and
in public locations. Additionally, the United States government has raised concerns about a potential increase in cyberattacks generally as a result of the
military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the related sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries. Furthermore, future or past
business transactions (such as acquisitions or integrations) could expose us to additional data security risks and vulnerabilities, as our systems could be
negatively affected by vulnerabilities present in acquired or integrated entities’ systems and technologies. Risks related to data security will increase as we
continue to grow the scale and functionality of our business and collect, store, transmit and otherwise process increasingly large amounts of our and our
customers’ information and data, which may include personal, proprietary, confidential or other sensitive data.

Any of the above identified or similar threats could cause a security breach or other security incident that could result in unauthorized, unlawful, or
accidental acquisition, modification, destruction, loss, alteration, encryption, disclosure, transfer, use or other processing of, or access to our information
technology systems or personal, proprietary, confidential or other sensitive information, or those of the third parties upon whom we rely. A security breach
or other security incident could disrupt our ability (and that of third parties upon whom we rely) to provide our platform, products, and services.

We may expend significant resources or modify our business activities to try to protect against, mitigate or remediate actual or perceived security
breaches and other security incidents. Certain data privacy and security obligations may require us to implement and maintain specific security measures,
industry-standard or reasonable security measures to protect our information technology systems and personal, proprietary, confidential or other sensitive
information.

While we have implemented security measures designed to protect against security breaches and other security incidents, there can be no assurance
that these measures will be effective. We have not always been able in the past and may be unable in the future to detect vulnerabilities in our information
technology systems (including our products) because such threats and techniques change frequently, are often sophisticated in nature, and may not be
detected until after a security breach or other security incident has occurred. For example, industry publications have reported ransomware attacks on
MongoDB instances. We believe these attacks were successful due to the failure by users of our Community Server offering to properly turn on the
recommended security settings when running these instances. Despite our efforts to identify and remediate vulnerabilities, if any, in our information
technology systems (including our products), our efforts may not be successful. Further, we may experience delays in developing and deploying remedial
measures designed to address any such identified vulnerabilities.

We use third-party service providers and subprocessors to help us deliver services to our customers. These third-party service providers and
subprocessors may collect, store, transmit or otherwise process personal data or other confidential information of our employees and our customers. Our
ability to monitor these third parties’ information security practices is limited, and these third parties may not have adequate information security measures
in place. Due to applicable laws, regulations, rules, standards, contractual obligations, policies and other obligations, we may be held responsible for
security breaches or other security incidents attributed to our third-party service providers as they relate to the information we share with them.
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Applicable data privacy and security obligations may require us to notify relevant stakeholders of security breaches and other security incidents.
Such disclosures are costly, and the disclosures or the failure to comply with such requirements could lead to adverse consequences.

If we (or a third party upon whom we rely) experience or are perceived to have experienced a security breach or other security incident, or fail to
make adequate or timely disclosures to the public, regulators, law enforcement agencies or affected individuals, as applicable, following any such event, we
may experience adverse consequences. These consequences may include: liability under applicable data privacy and security laws, regulations, rules,
standards, contractual obligations, policies and other obligations; obligations to notify regulators and affected individuals; government enforcement actions
(for example, investigations, fines, penalties, audits, and inspections); additional reporting requirements and/or oversight; restrictions on processing
personal and other sensitive information; litigation (including class claims); indemnification and other contractual obligations; damages; negative publicity;
reputational harm; monetary fund diversions; interruptions in our operations (including availability of data); financial loss; and other similar harms.
Security breaches and other security incidents and attendant consequences may cause customers to stop using our platform, products, and services, deter
new customers from using our platform, products, and services, and negatively impact our ability to grow and operate our business.

Our contracts may not contain limitations of liability, and even where they do, there can be no assurance that limitations of liability in our contracts
are sufficient to protect us from liabilities, damages, or claims related to our data privacy and security obligations.

While we maintain general liability insurance coverage and coverage for errors or omissions, we cannot assure you that such coverage will be
adequate or otherwise protect us from liabilities or damages with respect to claims alleging compromises of personal or other confidential data or otherwise
relating to data privacy and security matters. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceeds our available insurance coverage,
or results in changes to our insurance policies (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements), could have
an adverse effect on our business. In addition, we cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue
to be available on acceptable terms or at all, or that our insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

Our sales cycle may be long and is unpredictable and our sales efforts require considerable time and expense.

The timing of our sales and related revenue recognition is difficult to predict because of the length and unpredictability of the sales cycle for our
offerings. We are often required to spend significant time and resources to better educate and familiarize potential customers with the value proposition of
paying for our products and services. The length of our sales cycle, from initial evaluation to payment for our offerings is generally three to nine months,
but can vary substantially from customer to customer or from application to application within a given customer. As the purchase and deployment of our
products can be dependent upon customer initiatives, our sales cycle can extend to more than a year for some customers. Customers often view a
subscription to our products and services as a strategic decision and significant investment and, as a result, frequently require considerable time to evaluate,
test and qualify our product offering prior to entering into or expanding a subscription. During the sales cycle, we expend significant time and money on
sales and marketing and contract negotiation activities, which may not result in a sale. Additional factors that may influence the length and variability of
our sales cycle include:

• the effectiveness of our sales force, in particular new sales people as we increase the size of our sales force;

• the discretionary nature of purchasing and budget cycles and decisions;

• the obstacles placed by a customer’s procurement process;

• our ability to convert users of our free offerings to paying customers;

• economic conditions and other factors impacting customer budgets;

• customer evaluation of competing products during the purchasing process; and

• evolving customer demands.

Given these factors, it is difficult to predict whether and when a sale will be completed and when revenue from a sale will be recognized, particularly
the timing of revenue recognition related to the term license portion of our subscription revenue. In addition, as a result of rising inflation and interest rates,
and global economic uncertainty, potential customers
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may consider reducing or delaying, technology or other discretionary spending, which could also result in an extension of our sales cycle. This could
impact the variability and comparability of our quarterly revenue results and may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We may be forced to reduce prices for our subscription offerings and as a result our revenue and results of operations will be harmed.

As the market for databases evolves, or as new competitors introduce new products or services that compete with ours, we may be unable to attract
new customers or convert users of our free offerings to paying customers on terms or based on pricing models that we have used historically. In the past,
we have been able to increase our prices for our subscription offerings, but we may choose not to introduce or be unsuccessful in implementing future price
increases. As a result of these and other factors, in the future we may be required to reduce our prices or be unable to increase our prices, or it may be
necessary for us to increase our services or product offerings without additional revenue to remain competitive, all of which could harm our results of
operations and financial condition.

If we are unable to attract new customers in a manner that is cost-effective and assures customer success, we will not be able to grow our business,
which would adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

In order to grow our business, we must continue to attract new customers in a cost-effective manner and enable these customers to realize the
benefits associated with our products and services. We may not be able to attract new customers for a variety of reasons, including as a result of their use of
traditional relational and/or other database products and their internal timing, budget or other constraints that hinder their ability to migrate to or adopt our
products or services.

Even if we do attract new customers, the cost of new customer acquisition, product implementation and ongoing customer support may prove so
high as to prevent us from achieving or sustaining profitability. For example, in fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, total sales and marketing expense
represented 54%, 54% and 55% of revenue, respectively. We intend to continue to hire additional sales personnel, increase our marketing activities to help
educate the market about the benefits of our platform and services, grow our domestic and international operations and build brand awareness. We also
intend to continue to cultivate our relationships with developers through continued investment in our MongoDB .local events, MongoDB Advocacy Hub,
User Groups, MongoDB University and our partner ecosystem of global system integrators, value-added resellers and independent software vendors. If the
costs of these sales and marketing efforts increase dramatically, if we do not experience a substantial increase in leverage from our partner ecosystem, or if
our sales and marketing efforts do not result in substantial increases in revenue, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely
affected. In addition, while we expect to continue to invest in our professional services organization to accelerate our customers’ ability to adopt our
products and ultimately create and expand their use of our products over time, we cannot assure you that any of these investments will lead to the cost-
effective acquisition of additional customers.

If we fail to offer high quality support, our business and reputation could suffer.

Our customers rely on our personnel for support of our software and services included in our subscription packages. High-quality support is
important for the renewal and expansion of our agreements with existing customers. The importance of high-quality support will increase as we expand our
business and pursue new customers. If we do not help our customers quickly resolve issues and provide effective ongoing support, our ability to sell new
software to existing and new customers could suffer and our reputation and relationships with existing or potential customers could be harmed.

Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in our software could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth
prospects.

Our software is complex and therefore, undetected errors, failures or bugs have occurred in the past and may occur in the future. Our software is
used in IT environments with different operating systems, system management software, applications, devices, databases, servers, storage, middleware,
custom and third-party applications and equipment and networking configurations, which may cause errors or failures in the IT environment into which our
software is deployed. This diversity increases the likelihood of errors or failures in those IT environments. Despite testing by us, real or perceived errors,
failures or bugs may not be found until our customers use our software. Real or perceived errors, failures or bugs in our products could result in negative
publicity, security breaches or other security incidents, loss of or delay in market acceptance of our software, regulatory investigations and enforcement
actions, harm to our brand, weakening of our competitive position, or claims by customers for losses sustained by them or failure to meet the stated service
level commitments in our customer agreements. In such an event, we may be required, or may choose, for customer relations or other reasons, to expend
significant additional resources in order to help correct the problem. Any real or perceived errors,
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failures or bugs in our software could also impair our ability to attract new customers, retain existing customers or expand their use of our software, which
would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to stringent and evolving U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, rules, standards, contractual obligations, policies and other obligations
related to data privacy and security. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could lead to regulatory investigations or actions;
litigation; fines and penalties; a disruption of our business operations; reputational harm; loss of revenue or profits; and other adverse business
consequences.

Data privacy has become a significant issue in the United States, Europe and in many other countries and jurisdictions where we offer our software
and services. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, receive, store, generate, use, transfer, disclose, make accessible, protect, secure, dispose of,
transmit, share and otherwise process personal data and other sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential business data, trade secrets, and
intellectual property. We collect personal information from individuals located both in the United States and abroad and may store or otherwise process
such information outside of the country in which it was collected. Our data processing activities subject us to numerous data privacy and security
obligations, such as various laws, regulations, rules, guidance, industry standards, external and internal privacy and security policies, contracts, and other
obligations that govern the processing of personal data by us and on our behalf.

In the United States, federal, state, and local governments have enacted numerous data privacy and security laws, including data breach notification
laws, personal data privacy laws, and consumer protection laws For example, at the federal level, Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act prohibits
unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce (which extends to data privacy and security practices), and the Health Insurance Portability
and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”),
imposes specific requirements relating to the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identifiable health information. At the state level, the
California Consumer Privacy Act, as modified by the California Privacy Rights Act (collectively, the “CCPA”) gives California residents the right to,
among other things, request disclosure of personal information collected about them and whether that information has been sold to others, request deletion
of personal information (subject to certain exceptions), opt out of sales of their personal information, and not be discriminated against for exercising these
rights. The CCPA also authorizes private lawsuits to recover statutory damages for certain data breaches. The effects of the CCPA are potentially significant
and may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices and policies and increase our compliance costs and potential liability with respect
to personal information we collect about California residents. For example, in August 2022 California’s Attorney General reached a settlement with
Sephora, Inc. (“Sephora”) for failing to satisfy certain obligations under the CCPA, including the disclosure and processing of opt-out requests, with respect
to the for using third-party tracking software on Sephora's website that could, among other things, create profiles about website visitors that the California
Attorney General interpreted as a "sale" of customer information given the benefits that both the software provider and Sephora received from the
relationship. This action may signal a priority of enforcement and interpretation that such use of analytics products on the internet may introduce new web-
based marketing complexities and compliance challenges under the CCPA.

A number of other U.S. states have also enacted, or are considering enacting, comprehensive data privacy laws that share similarities with the CCPA,
with at least four such laws (in Virginia, Colorado, Utah and Connecticut) having taken effect, or scheduled to take effect, in 2023. Iowa recently passed a
similarly broad consumer privacy law that will take effect in 2025. Certain state laws and regulations may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer
greater individual rights, with respect to personal data than federal or other state laws and regulations, and such laws and regulations may differ from each
other, which may complicate compliance efforts and increase legal risk and compliance costs for us and the third parties upon whom we rely. There is also
discussion in Congress of a new federal data privacy and security law to which we may become subject if it is enacted. In addition, laws in all 50 U.S.
states generally require businesses to provide notice under certain circumstances to consumers whose personal data has been disclosed as a result of a data
breach. These laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a widespread data breach is difficult and may be costly.

Additionally, in March 2022, the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) proposed cybersecurity disclosure rules for public companies
that would require disclosure regarding cybersecurity risk management (including cybersecurity-related business activities, decision-making processes, and
a corporate board’s role in overseeing cybersecurity) and material cybersecurity incidents in periodic filings. While the notice-and-comment period has
closed, we do not have an expected date of when these rules would go into effect.

Furthermore, on May 12, 2021, the Biden administration issued an Executive Order requiring federal agencies to implement additional IT security
measures, including, among other things, requiring agencies to adopt multifactor authentication and encryption for data at rest and in transit, to the
maximum extent consistent with federal records laws and
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other applicable laws. Additionally, the Executive Order called for the development of secure software development practices or criteria for a consumer
software labeling program reflecting a baseline level of secure practices for development of software sold to the U.S. federal government. Due to the
Executive Order, federal agencies may require us to modify our cybersecurity practices and policies and increase our compliance costs and, if we are
unable to meet the requirements of the Executive Order, it could impede our ability to work with the U.S. government and result in a loss of revenue.

Internationally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data privacy and security legal framework with which we or
our customers must comply, including, but not limited to, the European Economic Area (“E.E.A.”), Switzerland, the United Kingdom (“U.K.”), Canada,
Brazil and other countries. The collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding individuals in the E.E.A. is subject to the
General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), and other European laws governing the processing of personal data. Data protection authorities in the
E.E.A. have the power to impose administrative fines for violations of the GDPR of up to a maximum of €20 million or 4% of the entity’s total worldwide
global turnover for the preceding financial year, whichever is higher. Further, the GDPR provides for private litigation related to the processing of personal
data that can be brought by classes of data subjects or consumer protection organizations authorized at law to represent the data subjects’ interests. Since we
act as a data processor for our MongoDB Atlas customers, we have taken steps to cause our processes to be compliant with applicable portions of the
GDPR, but because of the ambiguities in the GDPR and the evolving interpretation of the GDPR by data protection authorities, we cannot assure you that
such steps are complete or effective.

Following the exit of the U.K. from the European Union (“E.U.”), the GDPR was transposed into U.K. law (the “U.K. GDPR”) as supplemented by
the U.K. Data Protection Act 2018, which currently imposes the same obligations as the GDPR in most material respects. Failure to comply with the U.K.
GDPR can result in fines up to a maximum of £17.5 million or 4% of the entity’s total worldwide global turnover for the preceding financial year,
whichever is higher. However, the U.K. GDPR will not automatically incorporate changes made to the GDPR going forward (which would need to be
specifically incorporated by the U.K. government). Moreover, the U.K. government has publicly announced plans to reform the U.K. GDPR in ways that, if
formalized, are likely to deviate from the GDPR, all of which creates a risk of divergent parallel regimes and related uncertainty, along with the potential
for increased compliance costs and risks for affected businesses.

Countries outside Europe are implementing significant limitations on the processing of personal data, similar to those in the GDPR. For example,
Brazil has enacted the General Data Protection Law (Lei Geral Proteção de Dados Pessoais, or “LGPD”) (Law No. 13,709/2018). In addition, on June 5,
2020, Japan passed amendments to its Act on the Protection of Personal data, or APPI. Both of these laws broadly regulate the processing of personal data
in a manner comparable to the GDPR, and violators of the LGPD and APPI face substantial penalties.

Some foreign data privacy and security laws, including, without limitation, the GDPR and U.K. GDPR, may restrict the cross-border transfer of
personal data, such as transfers of data to the United States from the E.E.A., or U.K. These laws may require data exporters and data importers - as a
condition of cross-border data transfers - to implement specific safeguards to protect the transferred personal data. Existing mechanisms that facilitate
cross-border personal data transfers may change or be invalidated. For example, the GDPR generally restricts the transfer of personal data to countries
outside of the E.E.A. that the European Commission does not consider to provide an adequate level of data privacy and security, such as the United States,
unless the parties to the transfer have implemented specific safeguards to protect the transferred personal data, such as, most commonly, the “Standard
Contractual Clauses” (“SCCs”) released by the European Commission. Use of the SCCs imposes additional compliance burdens, such as conducting
transfer impact assessments to determine whether additional security measures are necessary to protect the at-issue personal data. While the European
Commission published on December 13, 2022 a draft adequacy decision on the level of protection of personal data under the EU-U.S. Data Privacy
Framework and on February 28, 2023, the European Data Protection Board adopted its opinion the draft adequacy decision, no formal agreement has been
finalized, and any such agreement, if formalized, is likely to face challenge at the Court of Justice of the European Union. In addition, the U.K. similarly
restricts personal data transfers outside of the U.K. jurisdiction to countries such as the United States that the U.K. government does not consider to provide
an adequate level of personal data protection, and the U.K. government has adopted its own standard International Data Transfer Agreement for use under
such circumstances, as well as an international data transfer addendum that can be used with the SCCs for the same purpose. Certain countries outside
Europe (including Russia, China and Brazil) have also passed or are considering laws requiring local data residency or otherwise impeding the transfer of
personal data across borders, any of which could increase the cost and complexity of doing business. If we cannot implement a valid compliance
mechanism for cross-border data transfers, we may face increased exposure to regulatory actions, substantial fines, and injunctions against processing or
transferring personal data from Europe or other foreign jurisdictions. The inability to import personal data to the United States could significantly and
negatively impact our business operations; limit our ability to collaborate with parties that are subject to
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such cross-border data transfer or localization laws; or require us to increase our personal data processing capabilities and infrastructure in foreign
jurisdictions at significant expense.

In addition to the GDPR, other European legislative proposals and present laws and regulations apply to cookies and similar tracking technologies,
electronic communications, and marketing. In the E.E.A. and the U.K., regulators are increasingly focusing on compliance with requirements related to the
online behavioral advertising ecosystem. For example, it is anticipated that the ePrivacy Regulation, which is still being negotiated, and national
implementing laws will replace the current national laws implementing the ePrivacy Directive. Compliance with these laws and regulations may require us
to make significant operational changes, limit the effectiveness of our marketing activities, divert the attention of our technology personnel, adversely affect
our margins, and subject us to liabilities.

In addition to government regulation, we may be contractually subject to industry standards adopted by privacy advocates and industry groups and
may become subject to such obligations in the future. We may also be bound by other contractual obligations related to data privacy and security, and our
efforts to comply with such obligations may not be successful.

Further, because data privacy and security are critical competitive factors in our industry, we publish privacy policies and other documentation
regarding our collection, use, disclosure and other processing of personal data and other confidential information. Although we endeavor to comply with
our published policies, certifications and documentation, we may at times fail to do so, may be perceived to have failed to do so, or be alleged to have
failed to do so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving compliance if our employees or vendors fail to comply with our
published policies, certifications and documentation. The publication of our privacy policies and other documentation that provide promises and assurances
about data privacy and security can subject us to potential government or legal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair or misrepresentative of our
actual practices. Should any of these statements prove to be untrue or be perceived as untrue, even if because of circumstances beyond our reasonable
control, we may face litigation, disputes, claims, investigations, inquiries or other proceedings by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission, federal, state and
foreign regulators, our customers and private litigants, which could adversely affect our business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition.

Because the interpretation and application of data privacy and security laws, regulations, rules, standards and other obligations are still uncertain and
likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, it is possible that these laws, regulations, rules, standards and other actual or alleged obligations,
including contractual or self-regulatory obligations, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data management practices or
the features of our software. If so, in addition to the possibility of fines, lawsuits and other claims, we could be required to fundamentally change our
business activities and practices or modify our software, which we may be unable to do in a commercially reasonable manner or at all and which could
have an adverse effect on our business. Any inability to adequately address data privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, or the failure, or
perceived failure, to comply with applicable data privacy and security laws, regulations, rules, standards, contractual obligations, policies and other actual
or alleged obligations, could result in additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales and adversely affect our business.

Furthermore, the costs of compliance with and other burdens imposed by, the laws, regulations, rules, standards, contractual obligations, policies and
other obligations related to data privacy and security that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of, and reduce
the overall demand for, our software. Privacy concerns, whether valid or not valid, may inhibit market adoption of our software particularly in certain
industries and foreign countries.

Our estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate and even if the market in which we compete achieves
the forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all.

Our market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on third-party assumptions and estimates
that may not prove to be accurate. The market in which we compete may not meet these size estimates and may not achieve these growth forecasts. Even if
the market in which we compete meets such size estimates and the growth forecasts, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all, for a variety of
reasons, which would adversely affect our results of operations.
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We could incur substantial costs in obtaining, maintaining, protecting, defending or enforcing our intellectual property rights and any failure to obtain,
maintain, protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights could reduce the value of our software and brand.

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our intellectual property rights. As of January 31, 2023, we had 68 issued patents and 37
pending patent applications in the United States. Patent applications may not result in issued patents and even if a patent issues, we cannot assure you that
such patent will be adequate to protect our business. In addition to patent protection, we primarily rely on copyright and trademark laws, trade secret
protection and confidentiality or other contractual arrangements with our employees, customers, partners and others to protect our intellectual property
rights. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may not be adequate and we may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of
our intellectual property rights. In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to establish, monitor
and enforce such rights. Litigation brought to enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management and
could be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. An adverse
determination of any litigation proceedings could put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our related
intellectual property at risk of not issuing or being canceled. The local laws of some foreign countries do not protect our intellectual property rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States and effective intellectual property protection and mechanisms may not be available in those jurisdictions. We
may need to expend additional resources to defend our intellectual property in these countries and our inability to do so could impair our business or
adversely affect our international expansion. Even if we are able to secure our intellectual property rights, there can be no assurances that such rights will
provide us with competitive advantages or distinguish our products and services from those of our competitors or that our competitors will not
independently develop similar technology.

In addition, we regularly contribute source code under open source licenses and have made some of our own software available under open source or
source available licenses and we include third-party open source software in our products. Because the source code for any software we contribute to open
source projects or distribute under open source or source available licenses is publicly available, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights with
respect to such source code may be limited or lost entirely. In addition, from time to time, we may face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or
demanding release of, the software or derivative works that we have developed using third-party open source software, which could include our proprietary
source code, or otherwise seeking to enforce the terms of the applicable open-source license.

We have been and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims by third parties, which may be costly to defend, could require us to
pay significant damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies.

Companies in the software and technology industries, including some of our current and potential competitors, own large numbers of patents,
copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of
intellectual property rights. We have in the past and may in the future be subject to claims that we have misappropriated, misused, infringed or otherwise
violated the intellectual property rights of our competitors, non-practicing entities or other third parties. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that our
software incorporates third-party open source software. For example, Realtime Data (“Realtime”) filed a lawsuit against us in the United States District
Court for the District of Delaware in March 2019 alleging that we are infringing three U.S. patents that it holds: the 908 Patent, the 751 Patent and the 825
Patent. See the section titled “Part II, Item 1. Legal Proceedings.”

Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be very time-consuming and expensive and could divert our management’s attention
and other resources. These claims could also subject us to significant liability for damages, potentially including treble damages if we are found to have
willfully infringed patents or copyrights. These claims could also result in our having to stop using technology found to be in violation of a third party’s
rights, some of which we have invested considerable effort and time to bring to market. We might be required to seek a license for the intellectual property,
which may not be available on reasonable terms or at all. Even if a license is available, we could be required to pay significant royalties, which would
increase our operating expenses. As a result, we may be required to develop alternative non-infringing technology, which could require significant effort
and expense. If we cannot license or develop technology for any aspect of our business that may ultimately be determined to infringe, misappropriate or
otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of another party, we could be forced to limit or stop sales of subscriptions to our software and may be
unable to compete effectively. Any of these results would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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If we are unable to maintain successful relationships with our partners, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

In addition to our direct sales force and our website, we use strategic partners, such as global system integrators, value-added resellers and
independent software vendors to sell our subscription offerings and related services. Our agreements with our partners are generally nonexclusive, meaning
our partners may offer their customers products and services of several different companies, including products and services that compete with ours, or may
themselves be or become competitors. If our partners do not effectively market and sell our subscription offerings and related services, choose to use
greater efforts to market and sell their own products and services or those of our competitors, or fail to meet the needs of our customers, our ability to grow
our business and sell our subscription offerings and related services may be harmed. Our partners may cease marketing our subscription offerings or related
services with limited or no notice and with little or no penalty. The loss of a substantial number of our partners, our possible inability to replace them, or the
failure to recruit additional partners could harm our growth objectives and results of operations.

We rely upon third-party cloud providers to host our cloud offering; any disruption of or interference with our use of third-party cloud providers would
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We outsource substantially all of the infrastructure relating to MongoDB Atlas across AWS, Microsoft Azure and GCP to host our cloud offering. If
the hosting of MongoDB Atlas is disrupted or interfered with for any reason, our business would be negatively impacted. Customers of MongoDB Atlas
need to be able to access our platform at any time, without interruption or degradation of performance and we provide them with service level
commitments with respect to uptime. Third-party cloud providers run their own platforms that we access and we are, therefore, vulnerable to their service
interruptions. We may experience interruptions, delays and outages in service and availability from time to time as a result of problems with our third-party
cloud providers’ infrastructure. Lack of availability of this infrastructure could be due to a number of potential causes including technical failures, natural
disasters, fraud, cyberattacks, or security breaches or other security incidents that we cannot predict or prevent. Such interruptions, delays or outages could
lead to the triggering of our service level agreements and the issuance of credits to our cloud offering customers, which may impact our business, results of
operations and financial condition. In addition, if we or any of these third-party cloud providers, experience a security breach or other security incident, our
software is unavailable or our customers are unable to use our software within a reasonable amount of time or at all, then our business, results of operations
and financial condition could be adversely affected. In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems
within a period of time acceptable to our customers. It is possible that our customers and potential customers would hold us accountable for any breach of
security affecting a third-party cloud provider’s infrastructure and we may incur significant liability from those customers and from third parties with
respect to any breach affecting these systems. We may not be able to recover a material portion of our liabilities to our customers and third parties from a
third-party cloud provider. It may also become increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance, especially during peak usage times, as our
software becomes more complex and the usage of our software increases. Any of the above circumstances or events may harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Interruptions or performance problems associated with our technology and infrastructure may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

Our continued growth depends in part on the ability of our existing customers and new customers to access our software at any time and within an
acceptable amount of time. We may experience service disruptions, outages and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including
infrastructure changes or failures, human or software errors, malicious acts, terrorism, security breaches or other security incidents, or capacity constraints.
Capacity constraints could be due to a number of potential causes including technical failures, natural disasters, fraud or cyberattacks. In some instances,
we may not be able to identify and/or remedy the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time. It may become
increasingly difficult to maintain and improve our performance as our software offerings and customer implementations become more complex. If our
software is unavailable or if our customers are unable to access features of our software within a reasonable amount of time or at all, or if other
performance problems occur, our business, results of operations and financial conditions may be adversely affected.

Incorrect or improper implementation or use of our software could result in customer dissatisfaction and harm our business, results of operations,
financial condition and growth prospects.

Our database software and related services are designed to be deployed in a wide variety of technology environments, including in large-scale,
complex technology environments and we believe our future success will depend at least, in part, on

47



Table of Contents

MONGODB, INC.

our ability to support such deployments. Implementations of our software may be technically complicated and it may not be easy to maximize the value of
our software without proper implementation and training. For example, industry publications have reported ransomware attacks on MongoDB instances.
We believe these attacks were successful due to the failure by users of our Community Server offering to properly turn on the recommended security
settings when running these instances. If our customers are unable to implement our software successfully, or in a timely manner, customer perceptions of
our company and our software may be impaired, our reputation and brand may suffer and customers may choose not to renew their subscriptions or
increase their purchases of our related services.

Our customers and partners need regular training in the proper use of and the variety of benefits that can be derived from our software to maximize
its potential. We often work with our customers to achieve successful implementations, particularly for large, complex deployments. Our failure to train
customers on how to efficiently and effectively deploy and use our software, or our failure to provide effective support or professional services to our
customers, whether actual or perceived, may result in negative publicity or legal actions against us. Also, as we continue to expand our customer base, any
actual or perceived failure by us to properly provide these services will likely result in lost opportunities for follow-on sales of our related services.

If we fail to meet our service level commitments, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our agreements with customers typically provide for service level commitments. Our MongoDB Enterprise Advanced customers typically get
service level commitments with certain guaranteed response times and comprehensive 24x365 coverage. Our MongoDB Atlas customers typically get
monthly uptime service level commitments, where we are required to provide a service credit for any extended periods of downtime. The complexity and
quality of our customer’s implementation and the performance and availability of cloud services and cloud infrastructure are outside our control and,
therefore, we are not in full control of whether we can meet these service level commitments. Our business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected if we fail to meet our service level commitments for any reason. Any extended service outages could adversely affect our
business, reputation and brand.

We rely on the performance of highly skilled personnel, including senior management and our engineering, professional services, sales and technology
professionals; if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire, retain and motivate qualified personnel, our business would be harmed.

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our senior management team, particularly our Chief
Executive Officer, and our highly skilled team members, including our sales personnel, customer-facing technical personnel and software engineers.

We do not maintain key man insurance on any of our executive officers or key employees. From time to time, there may be changes in our senior
management team resulting from the termination or departure of our executive officers and key employees. The majority of our senior management and key
employees are employed on an at-will basis, which means that they could terminate their employment with us at any time. The loss of any of our senior
management or key employees could adversely affect our ability to build on the efforts they have undertaken to execute our business plan and to execute
against our market opportunity. We may not be able to find adequate replacements. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any
members of our senior management or other key employees. Further, if members of our management and other key personnel in critical functions across
our organization are unable to perform their duties or have limited availability, we may not be able to execute on our business strategy and/or our
operations may be negatively impacted.

Our ability to successfully pursue our growth strategy and compete effectively also depends on our ability to attract, motivate and retain our
personnel. Competition for well-qualified employees in all aspects of our business, including sales personnel, customer-facing technical personnel and
software engineers, is intense, and it may be even more challenging to retain qualified personnel as many companies have moved to offer a remote or
hybrid work environment, and considering the current period of heightened employee attrition in the United States and other countries. Our recruiting
efforts focus on elite organizations and our primary recruiting competition are well-known, high-paying technology companies. In response to competition,
rising inflation rates and labor shortages, we may need to adjust employee compensation, which could affect our operating costs and margins, as well as
potentially cause dilution to existing stockholders. We may also lose new employees to our competitors or other technology companies before we realize
the benefit of our investment in recruiting and training them. If we do not succeed in attracting well-qualified employees or retaining and motivating
existing employees, our business would be adversely affected.
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If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brand, especially among developers, our business and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand, especially with developers, in a cost-effective manner is critical to
achieving widespread acceptance of our software and attracting new customers. Brand promotion activities may not generate customer awareness or
increase revenue and even if they do, any increase in revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. For instance, our continued focus
and investment in MongoDB .local events, MongoDB University and similar investments in our brand and customer engagement and education may not
generate a sufficient financial return. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or continue to incur substantial expenses, we may fail to
attract or retain customers necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts, or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is critical
for broad customer adoption of our platform.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success and if we cannot continue to maintain and develop this culture as we grow and evolve, we may be
unable to execute effectively and could lose the innovation, creativity and entrepreneurial spirit we have worked hard to foster, which could harm our
business.

We believe that our culture has been and will continue to be a key contributor to our success. Our workforce has increased significantly from January
31, 2017 and we expect to continue to hire as we expand, especially among research and development and sales and marketing personnel. Such headcount
growth may result in a change to our corporate culture.

Our leadership team also plays a key role in our corporate culture. We may recruit and hire other senior executives in the future. Such management
changes subject us to a number of risks, such as risks pertaining to coordination of responsibilities and tasks, creation of new management systems and
processes, differences in management style, any of which could adversely impact our corporate culture. In addition, we may need to adapt our corporate
culture and work environments to changing circumstances, such as during times of a natural disaster or pandemic.

If we do not continue to maintain and develop our corporate culture, we may be unable to execute effectively and foster the innovation, creativity
and entrepreneurial spirit we believe we need to support our growth, which could harm our business.

We depend and rely upon SaaS technologies from third parties to operate our business and interruptions or performance problems with these
technologies may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We rely on hosted SaaS applications from third parties in order to operate critical functions of our business, including enterprise resource planning,
order management, contract management billing, project management and accounting and other operational activities. If these services become unavailable
due to extended outages, interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms, our expenses could increase, our ability
to manage finances could be interrupted and our processes for managing sales of our platform and supporting our customers could be impaired until
equivalent services, if available, are identified, obtained and implemented, all of which could adversely affect our business.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements could expose us to substantial liability for data breaches, intellectual property infringement and other
losses.

Our agreements with customers and other third parties may include indemnification provisions under which we agree to indemnify them for losses
suffered or incurred as a result of claims of intellectual property infringement, damages caused by us to property or persons, security breaches or other
security incidents, or other liabilities relating to or arising from our software, services or other contractual obligations. Large indemnity payments could
harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although we normally contractually limit our liability with respect to such indemnity
obligations, we may still incur substantial liability related to them. Any dispute with a customer with respect to such obligations could have adverse effects
on our relationship with that customer and other existing customers and new customers and harm our business and results of operations.

Because our long-term growth strategy involves sales to customers outside the United States, our business is susceptible to risks associated with
international operations.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived internationally and we are susceptible to risks related to our international operations. In the fiscal
years ended January 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, total revenue generated from customers outside the United States was 45%, 46% and 44%, respectively, of
our total revenue. We currently have international offices outside of North America in Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), the Asia-Pacific
region and South America,
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focusing primarily on selling our products and services in those regions. In addition, we expanded our reach in China in February 2021 when we
announced a global partnership with Tencent Cloud that allows customers to easily adopt and use MongoDB-as-a-Service across Tencent’s global cloud
infrastructure. In the future, we may continue to expand our presence in these regions or expand into other international locations. Our current international
operations and future initiatives involve a variety of risks, including risks associated with:

• changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic conditions;

• the need to adapt and localize our products for specific countries;

• greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles;

• unexpected changes in laws, regulatory requirements, taxes or trade laws;

• shelter-in-place, occupancy limitations or similar orders, private travel limitation, or business disruption in regions affecting our operations,
stemming from actual, imminent or perceived outbreak of contagious disease;

• more stringent regulations relating to data privacy and security and the unauthorized use of, or access to, commercial and personal data,
particularly in EMEA;

• differing labor regulations, especially in EMEA, where labor laws are generally more advantageous to employees as compared to the United
States, including deemed hourly wage and overtime regulations in these locations;

• challenges inherent in efficiently managing an increased number of employees over large geographic distances, including the need to implement
appropriate systems, policies, benefits and compliance programs;

• difficulties in managing a business in new markets with diverse cultures, languages, customs, legal systems, alternative dispute systems and
regulatory systems;

• increased costs associated with international operations, including travel, real estate, infrastructure and legal compliance costs;

• currency exchange rate fluctuations and the resulting effect on our revenue and expenses and the cost and risk of entering into hedging
transactions if we chose to do so in the future;

• the effect of other economic factors, including inflation, pricing and currency devaluation;

• limitations on our ability to reinvest earnings from operations in one country to fund the capital needs of our operations in other countries;

• laws and business practices favoring local competitors or general preferences for local vendors;

• operating in new, developing or other markets in which there are significant uncertainties regarding the interpretation, application and
enforceability of laws and regulations, including relating to contract and intellectual property rights;

• limited or insufficient intellectual property protection or difficulties enforcing our intellectual property;

• political instability, including any escalation in the geopolitical tensions between China and Taiwan, social unrest, terrorist activities, acts of civil
or international hostility, such as the current military conflict and escalating tensions between Russia and Ukraine, natural disasters or regional or
global outbreaks of contagious diseases, such as the COVID-19 pandemic;

• exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, U.K. Bribery Act
and similar laws and regulations in other jurisdictions; and

• adverse tax burdens and foreign exchange controls that could make it difficult to repatriate earnings and cash.

Our limited experience in operating our business internationally increases the risk that any potential future expansion efforts that we may undertake
will not be successful. If we invest substantial time and resources to expand our international operations and are unable to do so successfully and in a
timely manner, our business and results of operations will suffer.
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Changes in government trade policies, including the imposition of tariffs and other trade barriers, could limit our ability to sell our products to certain
customers and certain markets, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The United States or foreign governments may take administrative, legislative or regulatory action that could materially interfere with our ability to
sell our offerings in certain countries. For instance, there is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and
China with respect to trade policies, treaties, tariffs and taxes. If tariffs or other trade barriers are placed on offerings such as ours, this could have a direct
or indirect adverse effect on our business. Even in the absence of tariffs or other trade barriers, the related uncertainty and the market's fears relating to
international trade might result in lower demand for our offerings, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If currency exchange rates fluctuate substantially in the future, our financial results, which are reported in U.S. dollars, could be adversely affected.

As we continue to expand our international operations, we become more exposed to the effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Often,
contracts executed by our foreign operations are denominated in the currency of that country or region and a portion of our revenue is therefore subject to
foreign currency risks. However, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the real cost of our subscription offerings and related services to our
customers outside of the United States, adversely affecting our business, results of operations and financial condition. We incur expenses for employee
compensation and other operating expenses at our non-U.S. locations in the local currency. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and
other currencies could result in the dollar equivalent of such expenses being higher. This could have a negative impact on our reported results of operations.
To date, we have not engaged in any hedging strategies and any such strategies, such as forward contracts, options and foreign exchange swaps related to
transaction exposures that we may implement in the future to mitigate this risk may not eliminate our exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. Moreover,
the use of hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.

Changes in laws and regulations related to the internet or changes in the internet infrastructure itself may diminish the demand for our software and
could have a negative impact on our business.

The future success of our business and particularly our cloud offerings, such as MongoDB Atlas, depends upon the continued use of the internet as a
primary medium for commerce, communication and business applications. Federal, state or foreign government bodies or agencies have in the past
adopted, and may in the future adopt, laws or regulations affecting the use of the internet as a commercial medium. Changes in these laws or regulations
could require us to modify our software in order to comply with these changes. In addition, government agencies or private organizations may begin to
impose taxes, fees or other charges for accessing the internet or commerce conducted via the internet. These laws or charges could limit the growth of
internet-related commerce or communications generally, resulting in reductions in the demand for internet-based solutions such as ours.

In addition, the use of the internet as a business tool could be adversely affected due to delays in the development or adoption of new standards and
protocols to handle increased demands of internet activity, security, reliability, cost, ease of use, accessibility and quality of service. The performance of the
internet and its acceptance as a business tool have been adversely affected by a variety of evolving data security threats and the internet has experienced a
variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to portions of its infrastructure. If the use of the internet is adversely affected by these issues,
demand for our subscription offerings and related services could suffer.

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrangements are subject to the tax laws of various jurisdictions and we could be obligated to pay additional
taxes, which would harm our results of operations.

Based on our current corporate structure, we may be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax laws,
the application of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the
applicable tax principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents. The authorities in these
jurisdictions could review our tax returns or require us to file tax returns in jurisdictions in which we are not currently filing and could impose additional
tax, interest and penalties. In addition, the authorities could claim that various withholding requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries, assert that benefits
of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, or challenge our methodologies for valuing developed technology or intercompany arrangements,
including our transfer pricing. The relevant taxing authorities may determine that the manner in which we operate our business does not achieve the
intended tax consequences. If such a
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disagreement was to occur and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes and interest and penalties. Any increase in the
amount of taxes we pay or that are imposed on us could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our business and results of operations.

We may expand through acquisitions or investments in strategic partnerships or transactions with other companies, each of which may divert our
management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses, disrupt our operations, and harm our results of
operations.

Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business in response to changing technologies, customer demands and competitive
pressures. In some circumstances, we may choose to do so through acquisitions or investments in strategic partnerships or transactions with other
companies, rather than through internal development. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly and
we may not be able to successfully complete identified acquisitions.

The risks we face in connection with any acquisitions or strategic investments include:

• the potential of incurring charges or assuming substantial debt or other liabilities, which may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable
accounting treatment, and which may expose us to claims and disputes by stockholders and third parties, including intellectual property claims and
disputes, or which may not generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and expenses related to the acquisition or strategic
investment;

• we may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures in integrating the business, technologies, products, personnel or operations of any
company that we acquire or invest in, particularly if key personnel of the acquired company decide not to work for us;

• we may not be able to realize anticipated synergies;

• an acquisition or strategic investment may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses and distract our management;

• an acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer purchases for both us and the company acquired due to customer uncertainty about
continuity and effectiveness of service from either company and we may experience increased customer churn with respect to the company
acquired;

• we may encounter challenges integrating the employees of the acquired company into our company culture;

• for international transactions, we may face additional challenges related to the integration of operations across different cultures and languages and
the economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries;

• we may be unable to successfully sell any acquired products or increase adoption or usage of acquired products, or increase spend by acquired
customers;

• our use of cash to pay for acquisitions or strategic investment would limit other potential uses for our cash;

• if we incur debt to fund any acquisitions, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business, including
financial maintenance covenants; and

• if we issue a significant amount of equity securities in connection with future acquisitions, existing stockholders may be diluted and earnings per
share may decrease.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to risks associated with our non-marketable securities, including partial or complete loss of invested capital. Significant changes in the
fair value of our private investment portfolio could negatively impact our financial results.

We have non-marketable equity securities in privately-held companies. The financial success of our investments in any privately-held company is
typically dependent on a liquidity event, such as a public offering, acquisition or other favorable market event reflecting appreciation to the cost of our
initial investment. In addition, valuations of privately-held companies are inherently complex due to the lack of readily available market data.

We record all fair value adjustments of our non-marketable securities through the consolidated statements of operations. As a result, we may
experience additional volatility to our statements of operations due to the valuation and
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timing of observable price changes or impairments of our non-marketable securities. Our ability to mitigate this volatility in any given period may be
impacted by our contractual obligations to hold securities for a set period of time. All of our investments, especially our non-marketable securities, are
subject to a risk of a partial or total loss of investment capital. Changes in the fair value or partial or total loss of investment capital of these individual
companies could be material to our financial statements and negatively impact our business and financial results.

Failure to comply with anti-bribery, anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”), the U.S. Travel Act, the U.K. Bribery Act (the “Bribery
Act”) and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in various jurisdictions around the world. The FCPA, Bribery Act and similar
applicable laws generally prohibit companies, their officers, directors, employees and third-party intermediaries, business partners and agents from making
improper payments or providing other improper things of value to government officials or other persons. We and our third-party intermediaries may have
direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and other third parties where we
may be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party business partners and intermediaries, our employees, representatives,
contractors, resellers and agents, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. While we have policies and procedures and internal controls to
address compliance with such laws, we cannot assure you that all of our employees and agents will not take actions in violation of our policies and
applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. To the extent that we learn that any of our employees, third-party intermediaries, agents,
or business partners do not adhere to our policies, procedures, or internal controls, we are committed to taking appropriate remedial action. In the event that
we believe or have reason to believe that our directors, officers, employees, third-party intermediaries, agents, or business partners have or may have
violated such laws, we may be required to investigate or have outside counsel investigate the relevant facts and circumstances. Detecting, investigating and
resolving actual or alleged violations can be extensive and require a significant diversion of time, resources and attention from senior management. Any
violation of the FCPA, Bribery Act, or other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption laws and anti-money laundering laws could result in whistleblower
complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions, fines and penalties or suspension or
debarment from U.S. government contracts, all of which may have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, operating results and prospects and
financial condition.

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), are subject to interpretation by the FASB, the SEC and various bodies
formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our
reported financial results and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before the announcement of a change. New accounting pronouncements
and varying interpretations of accounting pronouncements have occurred and may occur in the future. Changes to existing rules or the questioning of
current practices may adversely affect our reported financial results or the way we conduct our business. For example, SEC proposals on climate-related
disclosures may require us to update our accounting or operational policies, processes, or systems to reflect new or amended financial reporting standards.
Such changes may adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Unaudited
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The results of these estimates form the
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities and equity and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements and Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements include those related to revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, the incremental borrowing rate related to
our lease liabilities, stock-based compensation, fair value of the liability component of the convertible debt, fair value of common stock and redeemable
convertible preferred stock warrants prior to the initial public offering, legal contingencies, fair value of acquired intangible assets and goodwill, useful
lives of acquired intangible assets and property and equipment and accounting for income taxes.

53



Table of Contents

MONGODB, INC.

Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could
cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the trading price of our common
stock.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate
financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of the
applicable listing standards of the Nasdaq. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting and
financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming and costly and place significant strain on our personnel, systems and
resources.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we will file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
principal executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended and anticipate that we will
continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further,
weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain
effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our results of operations or cause us to fail to meet
our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered
public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we will eventually be required to
include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting
could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price
of our common stock. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq.

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. This assessment includes disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our
management in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, we are required to have our independent registered public accounting firm issue an
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. During the evaluation and testing process, if we identify one
or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is
effective. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is
unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations and could cause a decline in the price of
our common stock and we may be subject to investigation or sanctions by the SEC.

We may require additional capital to support our operations or the growth of our business and we cannot be certain that this capital will be available on
reasonable terms when required, or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges,
including the need to develop new features or otherwise enhance our database software, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire businesses and
technologies. Accordingly, we may need to secure additional capital through equity or debt financings. If we raise additional capital, our existing
stockholders could suffer significant dilution and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of
holders of our common stock. Any debt financing that we may secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising
activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We may not be able to obtain
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additional financing on terms that are favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms that are satisfactory to us
when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly impaired and our
business may be harmed.

We are a multinational organization with a distributed workforce facing increasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictions and we could be
obligated to pay additional taxes in various jurisdictions.

As a multinational organization, we may be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly new and complex tax laws,
the amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax principles, including increased tax
rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and operating
results. Additionally, the rise of flexible work policies resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to continue to increase the complexity of our
payroll tax practices and may lead to challenges with our payments to tax authorities. Furthermore, authorities in the many jurisdictions in which we
operate or have employees could review our tax returns and impose additional tax, interest and penalties and the authorities could claim that various
withholding requirements apply to us or our subsidiaries or assert that benefits of certain tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, any of which
could have a material impact on us and the results of our operations.

The enactment of legislation implementing changes in U.S. taxation of international business activities or the adoption of other tax reform policies
could materially impact our financial position and results of operations.

Changes to U.S. tax laws, including limitations on the ability of taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign tax credits and the deferral of certain tax
deductions until earnings outside of the United States are repatriated to the United States, as well as changes to U.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the
future, could impact the tax treatment of our foreign earnings. Due to the expansion of our international business activities, any changes in the U.S. taxation
of such activities may impact our evidence supporting a full valuation allowance or increase our worldwide effective tax rate and adversely affect our
financial position and results of operations.

Potential tax reform globally and in the United States may result in significant changes to U.S. federal income tax law, including changes to the U.S.
federal income taxation of corporations (including ours) and/or changes to the U.S. federal income taxation of stockholders in U.S. corporations, including
investors in our common stock. For example, the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017 and significantly
revised the U.S. corporate income tax law. Additional significant changes to U.S. federal corporate tax law were made by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security Act, and the recently enacted Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”). The Company has determined that it is not currently subject to the tax
effects of the IRA, which includes a corporate alternative minimum tax and an excise tax on stock buybacks. In addition, the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (the “OECD”), has issued guidelines that change long-standing tax principles and may introduce tax uncertainty as
countries amend their tax laws to adopt certain parts of the guidelines. In December 2022, the European Union (“EU”) reached unanimous agreement, in
principle, to implement the global minimum tax. EU members will be required to institute local laws in 2023, which are intended to be effective for tax
years beginning after 2023. Additional changes to global tax laws are likely to occur, and such changes may adversely affect our tax liability.

We continue to monitor the progression of new global and U.S. legislation impact on our effective tax rate. We are currently unable to predict
whether any future changes will occur and, if so, the impact of such changes, including on the U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the
purchase, ownership and disposition of our common stock.

Our ability to use our net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

As of January 31, 2023, we had net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for U.S. federal and state, Irish and U.K. income tax purposes. A lack of
future taxable income would adversely affect our ability to utilize these NOLs before they expire. In general, under Section 382 of the Code, a corporation
that undergoes an “ownership change” (as defined under Section 382 of the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations) is subject to limitations on its
ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset future taxable income. We may experience a future ownership change under Section 382 of the Code that
could affect our ability to utilize the NOLs to offset our income. Furthermore, our ability to utilize NOLs of companies that we have acquired or may
acquire in the future may be subject to limitations. There is also a risk that due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs or other
unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to reduce future income tax liabilities, including for state tax purposes.
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For these reasons, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of the NOLs reflected on our balance sheet, even if we attain profitability, which
could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us and could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Taxing authorities may successfully assert that we should have collected or in the future should collect sales and use, value added or similar taxes and
we could be subject to liability with respect to past or future sales, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We do not collect sales and use, value added or similar taxes in all jurisdictions in which we have sales and we believe that such taxes are not
applicable to our products and services in certain jurisdictions. Sales and use, value added and similar tax laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdiction.
Certain jurisdictions in which we do not collect such taxes may assert that such taxes are applicable, which could result in tax assessments, penalties and
interest, to us or our end-customers for the past amounts and we may be required to collect such taxes in the future. If we are unsuccessful in collecting
such taxes from our end-customers, we could be held liable for such costs. Such tax assessments, penalties and interest, or future requirements may
adversely affect our results of operations.

We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could impair our ability to compete in international markets or subject us to liability if
we violate the controls.

Our offerings are subject to U.S. export controls and we incorporate encryption technology into certain of our offerings. These encryption offerings
and the underlying technology may be exported outside of the United States only with the required export authorizations, including by license.

Furthermore, our activities are subject to the economic sanctions laws and regulations by the U.S. and other jurisdictions that prohibit the shipment
of certain products and services without the required export authorizations or export to countries, governments and persons targeted by the sanctions. While
we take precautions to prevent our offerings from being exported in violation of these laws, including obtaining authorizations for our encryption offerings,
implementing IP address blocking and screenings against U.S. Government and international lists of restricted and prohibited persons, we cannot guarantee
that the precautions we take will prevent violations of export control and sanctions laws.

We also note that if our channel partners fail to obtain appropriate import, export or re-export licenses or permits, we may also be adversely affected,
through reputational harm as well as other negative consequences including government investigations and penalties. We presently incorporate export
control compliance requirements in our channel partner agreements. Complying with export control and sanctions regulations for a particular sale may be
time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.

If we fail to comply with U.S. and other sanctions and export control laws and regulations, we and certain of our employees could be subject to
substantial civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export or import privileges, fines, which may be imposed on us and responsible
employees or managers and, in extreme cases, the incarceration of responsible employees or managers.

Also, various countries, in addition to the United States, regulate the import, export and sale of certain encryption and other technology, including
permitting and licensing requirements and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our offerings or could limit our customers’ ability to
implement our offerings in those countries. Changes in our offerings or future changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the
introduction of our offerings in international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our offerings globally or, in some
cases, prevent the export or import of our offerings to certain countries, governments, or persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations,
economic sanctions or related legislation, or change in the countries, governments, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could result in
decreased use of our offerings by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our offerings to, existing or potential customers with international operations.
Any decreased use of our offerings or limitation on our ability to export or sell our offerings would likely adversely affect our business operations and
financial results.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, floods, pandemics and public health emergencies and other natural catastrophic events and to
interruption by man-made problems such as power disruptions, security breaches or other security incidents, or terrorism.

As of April 30, 2023, we have customers in over 100 countries and employees in over 25 countries. A significant natural disaster or man-made
problem, such as an earthquake, fire, flood, an act of terrorism, the regional or global outbreak
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of a contagious disease, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, or other catastrophic event occurring in any of these locations, could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, if a natural disaster or man-made problem were to affect data centers used by our cloud
infrastructure service providers this could adversely affect the ability of our customers to use our products. In addition, natural disasters, regional or global
outbreaks of contagious diseases and acts of terrorism could cause disruptions in our or our customers’ businesses, national economies or the world
economy as a whole. Moreover, these types of events could negatively impact consumer and business spending in the impacted regions or depending upon
the severity, globally, which could adversely impact our operating results. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic and/or the precautionary measures that
we, our customers, and the governmental authorities adopted resulted in operational challenges, including, among other things, adapting to new work-from-
home arrangements. More generally, a catastrophic event could adversely affect economies and financial markets globally and lead to an economic
downturn, which could decrease technology spending and adversely affect demand for our products and services. Any prolonged economic downturn or a
recession could materially harm our business and operating results and those of our customers, could result in business closures, layoffs, or furloughs of, or
reductions in the number of hours worked by, our and our customer's employees, and a significant increase in unemployment in the United States and
elsewhere. Such events may also lead to a reduction in the capital and operating budgets that we or our customers have available, which could harm our
business, financial condition, and operating results. As we experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic, the trading prices for our and other technology
companies' common stock may be highly volatile as a result of a catastrophic event, which may reduce our ability to access capital on favorable terms or at
all. In the event of a major disruption caused by a natural disaster or man-made problem, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure
system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our development activities, lengthy interruptions in service, breaches of data security and loss of critical
data, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, data security threats have become more prevalent, we face increased risk from these activities to maintain the performance, reliability,
security and availability of our subscription offerings and related services and technical infrastructure to the satisfaction of our customers, which may harm
our reputation and our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers.

To the extent any of the above or similar events occur and adversely affect our business and results of operations, such event may also have the
effect of heightening many of the other risks and uncertainties described in this “Risk Factors” section which may materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations.

We are subject to risks related to our environmental, social, and governance activities and disclosures.

We are in the process of developing our sustainability initiatives. The implementation of such initiatives may require considerable investment and if
these initiatives are not perceived to be adequate, or if the positions we take (or choose not to take) on social and ethical issues are unpopular with some of
our employees, partners, or with our customers or potential customers, our reputation could be harmed, which could negatively impact our ability to attract
or retain employees, partners or customers.

In addition, there is an increasing focus from regulators, certain investors and other stakeholders concerning environmental, social, and governance
(“ESG”) matters, both in the United States and internationally. We communicate certain ESG-related initiatives and goals regarding environmental matters,
diversity and other matters in our annually released Corporate Sustainability Report, on our website and elsewhere. Any of our current or future initiatives,
goals and commitments could be difficult to achieve and costly to implement. We could fail to achieve, or be perceived to fail to achieve, our ESG-related
initiatives, goals and commitments. In addition, we could be criticized for the timing, scope or nature of these initiatives, goals and commitments, or for
any revisions to them.

Additionally, there can be no assurance that our reporting frameworks and principles will be in compliance with any new environmental and social
laws and regulations that may be promulgated in the United States and elsewhere, and the costs of changing any of our current practices to comply with any
new legal and regulatory requirements in the United States and elsewhere may be substantial. Furthermore, industry and market practices may further
develop to become even more robust than what is required under any new laws and regulations, and we may have to expend significant efforts and
resources to keep up with market trends and stay competitive among our peers.

Social, ethical and security issues relating to the use of new and evolving technologies, such as AI, in our offerings or partnerships may result in
reputational harm and liability.

Social, ethical and security issues relating to the use of new and evolving technologies such as AI in our offerings or partnerships, may result in
reputational harm and liability, and may cause us to incur additional research and development costs to resolve such issues. As with many innovations, AI
presents risks and challenges that could affect its adoption, and
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therefore our business. If we enable or offer solutions that draw controversy due to their perceived or actual impact on society, we may experience brand or
reputational harm, competitive harm or legal liability. Potential government regulation related to AI use and ethics may also increase the burden and cost of
research and development in this area, and failure to properly remediate AI usage or ethics issues may cause public confidence in AI to be undermined. The
rapid evolution of AI will require the application of resources to develop, test and maintain any potential offerings or partnerships to help ensure that AI is
implemented ethically in order to minimize unintended, harmful impact.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

The trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile, which could cause the value of our common stock to decline.

Technology stocks have historically experienced high levels of volatility. The trading price of our common has been and is likely to continue to be
volatile. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the trading price of our common stock include the following:

• actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;
• whether our results of operations meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors;
• announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by us or our competitors;
• changes in how customers perceive the benefits of our product and future product offerings and releases;
• departures of key personnel;
• price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
• fluctuations in the trading volume of our shares or the size of our public float;
• sales of large blocks of our common stock;
• changes in actual or future expectations of investors or securities analysts;
• significant data breach involving our software;
• litigation involving us, our industry, or both;
• regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;
• general economic conditions and trends;
• major catastrophic events in our domestic and foreign markets; and
• “flash crashes,” “freeze flashes” or other glitches that disrupt trading on the securities exchange on which we are listed.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our
common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, results of operations or financial condition. The trading price of our common stock
might also decline in reaction to events that affect other companies in our industry even if these events do not directly affect us. In the past, following
periods of volatility in the trading price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that company. If our stock
price is volatile, we may become the target of securities litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s
attention and resources from our business. This could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidance or other expectations about our business and future operating results, which would cause our
stock price to decline.

We release earnings guidance in our quarterly and annual earnings conference calls, quarterly and annual earnings releases, or otherwise, regarding
our future performance that represents our management’s estimates as of the date of release. This guidance includes forward-looking statements based on
projections prepared by our management. Projections are based upon a number of assumptions and estimates that, while presented with numerical
specificity, are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies on our business, many of which are
beyond our control and are based upon specific assumptions with respect to future business decisions, some of which will change. Some of those key
assumptions relate to the macroeconomic environment, including inflation and interest rates, which are inherently difficult to predict. We intend to state
possible outcomes as high and low ranges which are intended to provide a sensitivity analysis as variables are changed but are not intended to imply that
actual results could not fall outside of the suggested ranges. The principal reason that we release guidance is to provide a basis for our management to
discuss our
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business outlook with analysts and investors. Furthermore, analysts and investors may develop and publish their own projections of our business, which
may form a consensus about our future performance. Our actual business results may vary significantly from such guidance or that consensus due to a
number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including due to the global economic uncertainty and financial market volatility, instability in
the banking sector, the ongoing geopolitical instability resulting from the conflict between Russia and Ukraine, severely diminished liquidity and credit
availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, increases in inflation rates, higher interest
rates and uncertainty about economic stability, any of which or combination thereof could materially and adversely affect our business and future operating
results. Furthermore, if we make downward revisions of our previously announced guidance, if we withdraw our previously announced guidance, or if our
publicly announced guidance of future operating results fails to meet expectations of securities analysts, investors or other interested parties, the price of
our common stock would decline.

Guidance is necessarily speculative in nature, and it can be expected that some or all of the assumptions underlying the guidance furnished by us will
not materialize or will vary significantly from actual results. Accordingly, our guidance is only an estimate of what management believes is realizable as of
the date of release. Actual results may vary from our guidance and the variations may be material. In light of the foregoing, investors are urged not to rely
upon our guidance in making an investment decision regarding our common stock.

Any failure to successfully implement our operating strategy or the occurrence of any of the events or circumstances set forth in this “Risk Factors”
section in this report could result in the actual operating results being different from our guidance, and the differences may be adverse and material.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all
other stockholders.

We expect to issue additional capital stock in the future that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We expect to grant equity awards to
employees, directors and consultants under our equity incentive plans. We may also raise capital through equity financings in the future. As part of our
business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in companies, products or technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition or
investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the per
share value of our common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock. We intend to retain any earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our
business and we do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, investors in our common stock may only receive a return if
the market price of our common stock increases.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management's attention and affect our ability to attract and retain
additional executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Our management and
other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these requirements. Moreover, these laws, regulations and standards are subject to
varying interpretations and their application in practice may evolve over time as regulatory and governing bodies issue revisions to, or new interpretations
of, these public company requirements. Such changes could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher legal and financial
costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We will continue to invest resources to comply with evolving laws,
regulations and standards and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management's time and
attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the
activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal
proceedings against us and our business may be adversely affected.

Being a public company under these rules and regulations has made it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance and in
the future, we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more
difficult for us to attract and retain qualified executive officers or members of our Board of Directors, particularly to serve on our audit and compensation
committees.
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As a result of the disclosures within our filings with the SEC, information about our business and our financial condition is available to competitors
and other third parties, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful,
our business and results of operations could be adversely affected. Even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims and
the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of
the United States of America will be the exclusive forums for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for the
following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory or common law:

• any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

• any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

• any action asserting a claim against us arising under the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation,
or our amended and restated bylaws; and

• any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal-affairs doctrine.

This provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities
Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have
jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by
different courts, among other considerations, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district courts of the
United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. These
exclusive forum provisions may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. While the Delaware courts have
determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those
designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum
provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs, and there can be no assurance that the
provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find either exclusive-forum provision in our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur further significant additional costs associated with resolving the
dispute in other jurisdictions.

Delaware law and our corporate charter and bylaws contain anti-takeover provisions that could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders
may consider favorable.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in
control of our company. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to elect directors who are not nominated by the current members of
our Board of Directors or take other corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. These provisions include:

• a classified Board of Directors with three-year staggered terms, which could delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a
majority of our Board of Directors;

• the ability of our Board of Directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including
preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the exclusive right of our Board of Directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board of Directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board of Directors;
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• a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

• the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our Board of Directors, the chairperson of our Board of Directors or
our chief executive officer, which limitations could delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action,
including the removal of directors;

• the requirement for the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of the voting stock to
amend the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation relating to the management of our business (including our classified
board structure) or certain provisions of our amended and restated bylaws, which may inhibit the ability of an acquirer to effect such amendments
to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt;

• the ability of our Board of Directors to amend our bylaws, which may allow our Board of Directors to take additional actions to prevent an
unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our Board of Directors or to propose matters to be
acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the
acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

In addition, as a Delaware corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may prohibit large
stockholders, in particular those owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock, from merging or combining with us for a specified period of time.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception that they might occur, could cause the market price of our
common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and
principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

In addition, we have options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of shares of our common stock. We also have restricted
stock units (“RSUs”) outstanding that, if vested and settled, would result in the issuance of shares of common stock. All of the shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and vesting of RSUs and the shares reserved for future issuance under our equity incentive plans, are registered
for public resale under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to applicable
vesting requirements.

Furthermore, a substantial number of shares of our common stock is reserved for issuance upon the exercise of the 2026 Notes (as defined below). If
we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation on the 2026 Notes solely in shares of our common stock upon conversion of the 2026 Notes, we will be
required to deliver shares of our common stock, together with cash for any fractional share.

Risks Related to our Outstanding Notes

We have incurred a significant amount of debt and may in the future incur additional indebtedness. We may not have sufficient cash flow from our
business to make payments on our substantial debt when due.

In June and July 2018, we issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible senior notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”), which
were redeemed on December 3, 2021, in a private placement and in January 2020, we issued $1.15 billion aggregate principal amount of 0.25% convertible
senior notes due 2026 (the “2026 Notes” and, together with the 2024 Notes, the “Notes”) in a private placement and concurrently repurchased for cash
approximately $210.0 million of the aggregate principal amount of the 2024 Notes.

We may be required to use a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to pay interest and principal on our indebtedness. Our ability to
make scheduled payments of the principal of, to pay interest on or to refinance our indebtedness, including the 2026 Notes, depends on our future
performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Such payments will reduce the funds available to
us for working capital, capital expenditures and other corporate purposes and limit our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital
expenditures,
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expansion plans and other investments, which may in turn limit our ability to implement our business strategy, heighten our vulnerability to downturns in
our business, the industry, or in the general economy, limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry and
prevent us from taking advantage of business opportunities as they arise. Our business may not be able to generate cash flow from operations in the future
sufficient to service our debt and make necessary capital expenditures. If we are unable to generate such cash flow, we may be required to adopt one or
more alternatives, such as selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining additional equity capital on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. We may
not be able to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

In addition, we and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional debt in the future, subject to the restrictions contained in our future debt
agreements, some of which may be secured debt. We are not restricted under the terms of the indentures governing the 2026 Notes, from incurring
additional debt, securing existing or future debt, recapitalizing our debt, repurchasing our stock, pledging our assets, making investments, paying dividends,
guaranteeing debt or taking a number of other actions that are not limited by the terms of the indenture governing the Notes that could have the effect of
diminishing our ability to make payments on the Notes when due. Additionally, weakness and volatility in capital markets and the economy, in general or
as a result of macroeconomic conditions such as rising inflation, could limit our access to capital markets and increase our costs of borrowing.

The conditional conversion feature of the 2026 Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion feature of the 2026 Notes is triggered, holders of the 2026 Notes will be entitled to convert their 2026 Notes
at any time during specified periods at their option. If one or more holders elect to convert their Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation
by delivering solely shares of our common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required to settle a portion
or all of our conversion obligation in cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. We also may not have enough available cash or be able to obtain
financing at the time the 2026 Notes mature. Our failure to pay any cash payable on future conversions of the 2026 Notes as required by the indenture
would constitute a default under the indenture for the 2026 Notes. In addition, even if holders of 2026 Notes do not elect to convert their 2026 Notes, we
could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassify all or a portion of the outstanding principal of the 2026 Notes as a current rather than long-
term liability, which would result in a material reduction of our net working capital.

The conditional conversion feature of the 2026 Notes was not triggered during the three months ended April 30, 2023, as the last reported sale price
of our common stock was not more than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price for each series of Notes for at least 20 trading days in the
period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on April 28, 2023 (the last trading day of the fiscal quarter). Therefore, the 2026 Notes are not convertible at
the option of the holders thereof, in whole or in part, from May 1, 2023 through July 31, 2023. Whether the 2026 Notes will be convertible following such
fiscal quarter will depend on the continued satisfaction of this condition or another conversion condition in the future.

The capped call transactions may affect the value of the 2026 Notes and our common stock.

In connection with the pricing of the 2026 Notes, we entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain counterparties. The
capped call transactions cover, subject to customary adjustments, the number of shares of our common stock initially underlying the 2026 Notes. The
capped call transactions are expected to offset the potential dilution to our common stock upon any conversion of the 2026 Notes. In connection with
establishing their initial hedges of the capped call transactions, the counterparties or their respective affiliates entered into various derivative transactions
with respect to our common stock concurrently with or shortly after the pricing of the 2026 Notes, including with certain investors in the 2026 Notes.

The counterparties or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various derivatives with respect to
our common stock and/or purchasing or selling our common stock or other securities of ours in secondary market transactions prior to the maturity of the
2026 Notes (and are likely to do so on each exercise date of the capped call transactions, which are scheduled to occur during the observation period
relating to any conversion of the 2026 Notes on or after October 15, 2025), or following any termination of any portion of the capped call transactions in
connection with any repurchase, redemption or early conversions of the 2026 Notes or otherwise. This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a
decrease in the market price of our common stock. We do not make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any potential effect
that the transactions described above may have on the price of shares of our common stock.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

(a) Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

None.

(b) Use of Proceeds

None.

(c) Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

Incorporated by Reference Filed
Herewith

Exhibit
Number

Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant 8-K 001-38240 3.1 10/25/2017

3.1.1 Certificate of Retirement 8-K 001-38240 3.1 6/16/2020
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant S-1 333-220557 3.4 9/21/2017

10.1# Addendum to Employment Agreement, dated February 22, 2023, by
and between the Registrant and Mark Porter

x

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-
14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

x

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-
14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

x

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

x

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

x

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline

XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject

to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

MONGODB, INC.

Date: June 2, 2023 By: /s/ Dev Ittycheria
Name: Dev Ittycheria
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Michael Gordon
Name: Michael Gordon
Title: Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Employment Agreement Addendum

February 22, 2023

Mark Porter [via email]

THIS ADDENDUM TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Addendum”) is made and entered into as of the date written above by and between Mark
Porter and MongoDB, Inc. (together, the “Parties”).

This Addendum amends and modifies as follows that certain Employment Agreement (as amended and/or supplemented and in effect from time to time,
the “Employment Agreement”) dated December 21, 2021 and made and entered into by the parties hereto.

Change in Location

As discussed between the Parties in December 2022, effective December 21, 2022, Mark Porter will be based out of MongoDB, Inc.’s Miami, Florida
office on a hybrid workplace model consisting of a combination of in-office and remote workdays.

Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, the Parties agree that all terms and conditions of the Employment Agreement remain in full force and
effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Addendum on the date first written above.

_______________________________________
Harsha Jalihal    Date
Chief People Officer

_______________________________________
Mark Porter    Date
Chief Technology Officer



Exhibit 31.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Dev Ittycheria, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MongoDB, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 2, 2023 By: /s/ Dev Ittycheria
Name: Dev Ittycheria
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a)

as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Michael Gordon, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of MongoDB, Inc. (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: June 2, 2023 By: /s/ Michael Gordon
Name: Michael Gordon
Title: Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dev Ittycheria, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of MongoDB, Inc. for the period ended April 30, 2023 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of MongoDB, Inc.
 

Date: June 2, 2023 By: /s/ Dev Ittycheria
Name: Dev Ittycheria
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of MongoDB, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether
made before or after the date of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Gordon, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of MongoDB, Inc. for the period ended April 30, 2023 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of MongoDB, Inc.
 

Date: June 2, 2023 By: /s/ Michael Gordon
Name: Michael Gordon
Title: Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of MongoDB, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether
made before or after the date of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.


